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PERSONA NON GRATA FOR GEORGIA: WHY?

by Samvel Karapetian

On 18 October 2015, the members of Research on
Armenian Architecture (RAA) Foundation, including
me, attempted to make a visit to the Republic of Geor-
gia for the purpose of conducting research into histori-
cal Armenian monuments at present in the territory of
this country. However, at the Armeno-Georgian Border
Checkpoint of Sadakhlo, I was banned entry to Georgia
without any explanation. As for the RAA group of spe-
cialists, immediately after crossing the border, they
found themselves under the close watch of the Geor-
gian Security Service: for 10 days, they were followed
everywhere from morning until evening, both openly
and secretly.

So, why am I considered persona non grata for
Georgia? Why is the RAA research regarded so dan-
gerous by the Georgian authorities?

Since 1978 I have devoted all my life to studies of
historical Armenian monuments located outside the
borders of the Republic of Armenia. The primary tar-
gets of my research have been the monuments of the
historical Armenian lands that remain annexed by the
states neighbouring Armenia, including Georgia.
Indeed, some research has also been carried out in the
settlements of the Armenian Diaspora. The same goal
has also been pursued by Research on Armenian
Architecture NGO (Founding Director: Dr. Armen
Hakhnazarian), which has been working as a founda-
tion under my directorship since 2010 (its Yerevan
Headquarters were officially registered in the Republic
of Armenia in 1998).

Studies of historical Armenian monuments located
in Georgia have always been high on the RAA list of
priorities. It should be noted that since 1989 to 1990,
these monuments have been subjected to an attitude of
flagrant discrimination and intolerance, in consequence
of which, many of them, particularly the religious ones,
have been either appropriated or totally annihilated.
Armenian cemeteries have been levelled to the ground;
medieval khachkars (cross-stones) have just “disap-
peared,” some of them being buried beneath plaster;
hundreds of Armenian lapidary inscriptions and a great
number of frescoes have been scraped away.

In the early 1990s, I published numerous articles
exposing these acts of vandalism that showed no ten-
dency of abating. In 1998 I also published a book (in
Armenian) entitled The State Policy of Georgia and the
Monuments of Armenian Culture: it presents eye-wit-

ness testimonies, substantiated with photos, against the
destruction of Armenian monuments in Georgia (I
hoped that my publications might help prevent further
demolition and appropriation of these monuments).
The contemporary Georgian press kept total silence
about the formidable evidence included in the book.
Some authors only expressed annoyance at the title of
the work, which stressed the fact that the destruction of
the Armenian architectural heritage of Georgia had
been, and was being, perpetrated as a result of a per-
sistently exercised state policy. In fact, however, only
one of the photographs included in the book is enough
to prove this: it shows Ed. Shevardnadze at the cere-
mony (1995) of the blessing of the foundations of a
new Georgian church in the site of the historical
Armenian cemetery of Khojivank, which was deliber-
ately levelled to the ground in the 1930s (the President
represents the state, does he not?).

Apart from publications exposing the destruction
and appropriation of Armenian monuments in Georgia,
the RAA has also produced the documentaries Silence
(2008) and A Day in Kakhet (2012), which treat the
same issue (available, also with English subtitles, on
RAA Armenia YouTube Channel).

The works in the Georgian front of my activities
also include: The Mayors of Tiflis' (2003, in Armenian
and Russian); The Armenian Collection of the Caucas-
ian Museum (2004, in Armenian); The Armenians in
Kakhet (2004, in Armenian); Javakhk (2006, in Ar-
menian; 2011, in English), and Akhaltskha (2008, in
Armenian). These publications reveal the Armenian
cultural and architectural heritage of Georgia, also

1 The book presents the lives and activities of 47 mayors who gov-

erned Tiflis for more than 800 years (from the 12th century until
1917). It is interesting to note that only two of them were
Georgians, and their graves are preserved intact, whereas those of
the other 45, who were Armenians (they were buried in Tiflis), do
not exist at all.
During the presentation of the book in the National Library of
Armenia, Nino Aktsiauri, the cultural attache of the Embassy of
the Republic of Georgia in the Republic of Armenia, expressed
her indignation at the facts highlighted in the book. She particu-
larly stated that Hayos and Kartlos, the eponymous patriarchs of
the Armenian and Georgian nations respectively, were brothers,
and it was impermissible to publish materials compromising this
“fraternity.” Well, a question arises: if they were truly brothers,
why did the descendants of Kartlos destroy the graves of Hayos’
scions? How can a brother excavate the grave of his brother and
scatter his remains here and there?
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showing the Armenians’ decisive role in the history of
this country and their contribution to its development.

It has already been several years since the
Armenian diocese of Georgia raised the question of the
restitution of several Armenian churches, appropriated
since the 1920s to 1930s, to their only legal owner, the
Armenian Apostolic Church. In order to support and
substantiate this demand, which has been declared
groundless by the Georgian side, I have prepared brief
texts (published in the periodical Norashen) on the his-
tory of some of these churches to prove that they do
form part of Armenian cultural heritage. In 2012 the
RAA also published a book, Sourb Nshan Sourb
Nikoghayosi Church, Thilisi (in Armenian, Russian and
English), in order to give an exhaustive answer to the
long-disputed question of the belonging of this church
(after its publication, no further encroachments were
made by the Georgian side).

The latest work in the Georgian front of my activi-
ties is a review of The Miaphysite Monuments of
Georgia, book 1: Kvemo Kartli (in Georgian) by Giorgi
Gagoshidze and Natia Chantladze (Tbilisi, 2009; edi-
tors: Zaza Alexidze, Professor of the Academy of
Sciences of Georgia, and Professor Dmitri Tumanish-
vili, Dr. of Historical Sciences).® In fact, this book is
thoroughly woven around a newly-concocted thesis
through which the Georgian side attempts to “substan-
tiate” the appropriation of Armenian monuments locat-
ed in Georgia. Thus, according to the authors and edi-
tors of the book, the Armenian churches preserved in
Somkheti* were originally built not by Armenians but
by Georgians who were converted to the Miaphysite
(namely, Armenian Apostolic) faith under the pressure

2 In 1995 I published a folded booklet with very brief information
regarding the Armenian churches of Georgia, over 650 in number
(including the name, location, construction and/or renovation
year(s) or century(ies) and the condition of each church). It
aroused a storm of indignation amidst Georgian researchers,
including Armenologists. One of them, Bondo Arveladze, even
published an entire book (“ApMsiHCKME” WJIM TPY3UHCKUE
uepkBu B I'py3un?” [“Armenian” or Georgian Churches of
Georgia?], Tbilisi, 1996) to refute the information contained in the
booklet, which, indeed, does not claim to be a scholarly work. You
can judge about the trustworthiness of his “counter-arguments”
regarding almost all the religious monuments mentioned in the
booklet by looking through, for instance, the part on Sourb Nshan
Church of Thbilisi (pp. 14-15).

3 See the review online in Vardzk no. 8 (Yerevan, 2013) at:
http://www.raa-am.com/vardsk-8/Vardsk-8 E_poqr.pdf

4 The toponym Somkheti, which is translated as Armenia, has been
used with reference to this region for centuries by the very
Georgian sources. The authors of the book, however, have com-
pletely ignored it and concocted the name Kvemo Kartli (Lower
Kartli). Apparently, they have followed the example set by their
Turkish counterparts who deliberately avoid using the name
Ermanistan in connection with the Turkish-conquered lands of
Armenia although it can be found in abundance in the very
Turkish sources: they have replaced it with the newly-coined geo-
graphical term Eastern Anatolia.

of Armenians; therefore, they are not Armenian, but
Georgian churches.

The book also includes numerous Armenian ins-
criptions allegedly carved by the aforementioned Geor-
gian converts. What is particularly noteworthy, the
decipherments of these lapidary records are deliberate-
ly distorted and falsified, evidently, for the purpose of
decreasing the age of the historical Armenian monu-
ments mentioned in them: thus, for instance, the
renowned cross memorial of Samshvilde, erected in
961 and dedicated to Armenian Prince of Princes Sm-
bat, has been traced back to 1621, while the 1237 con-
struction inscription of St. Sargis Church of Darpas
Village, Bolnis District, has been ascribed to 1857. The
authors of the book also mention the 1615 inscription
of one of the Armenian churches of Gorel City Site,
declaring that it is not a trustworthy record, being
merely a fabrication by Armenians (perhaps, it was for
this reason that it disappeared from the site!).’

These mistakes could be attributed to ignorance,
even given the fact that the authors and editors of the
book are renowned scholars. To my mind, however,
these falsifications simply pursue the aim of reducing
the historical value of the monuments in question.

I have always felt it my duty to protect the monu-
ments of Armenian material culture against various
encroachments, and because of my very activities, |
have become persona non grata for Georgia. I have
been stripped of my legal right to conduct studies of
historical Armenian monuments on the spot. In this sit-
uation, when the authorities of the Republic of Georgia
ban my entry into their country (although they always
declare themselves as advocates of western values),®
certain Georgian scholars who are busy falsifying his-
tory to appropriate Armenian monuments have free
access to the Republic of Armenia. Can there be any
explanation for this fact?

If I am considered dangerous for the Republic of
Georgia just “because of” my honest and truthful
scholarly activities, the Georgian researchers publish-
ing biassed works abounding in anti-Armenian state-
ments and distorted facts of history are far more dan-
gerous and unwelcome for the Republic of Armenia...

5 The same attitude has been shown to the historical Armenian mo-
numents located in Azerbaijan: thus, for instance, various Azer-
baijanian publications present the world-famous cemetery of Old
Jugha, as well as numerous churches and monasteries once situat-
ed in the region of Nakhichevan as forming part of the heritage of
Caucasian Albanians, the alleged ancestors of the Azerbaijani
people. This, however, did not prevent the annihilation of these
monuments by the very Azerbaijani authorities.

6 Immediately on my return from the Armeno-Georgian border, I
wrote a letter to Tengiz Sharmanishvili, Ambassador Extraordina-
ry and Plenipotentiary of the Republic of Georgia to the Republic
of Armenia, hoping to get some explanations. However, I have not
received any answer yet.
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ANCESTRAL RELICS

by Hayk Ajemian

Notes (including Inscriptions) Put Down during a
Journey Made in Urmia (Rezaye), Salmast (Shahpur),
Khoy and Maku Districts, West Azerbaijan Province,
as well as in the City of Tabriz between 6 July 1958 and
13 November 1959 (130 Days)'

KHOSROVA VILLAGE

13 August 1959

Probably, the Armenian church of St. Sargis is
about 300 years old. The following inscription, dating
from 1832, commemorates its overhaul (we do not
know how many times it underwent repairs prior to
this):

Clnphpt mbwnl dbpny 3. Lh. L wpnbwdp uw-
pnt UYypunps UoyghlimlGh hwdwwnwlgng. phlhgu
Up. Uwpphu thlnkghu hwyng, h pyhl 1832. U 2:

Transl.: By the grace of the Lord Jesus Christ, the
Armenian church of St. Sargis was repaired with the
means of Mr. Mkrtich Movian from Hamadan in 1832...

Right of the inscription above:

Unjl Ghbtnbghl Jtmulnpnqglg w. Uppwjk; Uw-
hwltalp h jhpwuwl pp olnnGhph wy. Qwpphl]
UwhwlbwGh huynnmpbwdp, 19 dwjhup 1955 p.,
Tunupnyu.

Transl.: This church was repaired by Mr. Michael
Sahakian in memory of his parents under Mr. Gabriel
Sahakian’s supervision on 19 May 1955. Khosrova.

On the entrance tympanum of the church:

Spwwmnwl b qulqu bi qubquunil “lwjuwp
SniiwGtwd, 1900 jluh 22:

Transl.: This bell and belfry perpetuate Dalkhat
Younanian’s memory. 22 June 1900.

1 Hayk Ajemian (1898 to 1965), a meritorious scholar from Van,
Western Armenia, put down these notes while travelling in
Azerbaijan Province, Iran, and in several districts of Historical
Armenia (such as Khoy and Salmast) that are within the borders
of this country. After his death, the handwritten copy of his notes,
entitled Ancestral Relics (in Armenian), was given to the late
Armen Hakhnazarian, Founding Director of the RAA. In the mid-
2000s, we had the chance of getting acquainted with the contents
of this work, and realising the great importance of the information
it contained, we had it entirely typed, hoping to publish it one day.
In this issue of the journal Vardzk, we are at last carrying out this
goal in token of tribute to Ajemian’s memory and gratitude for his
praiseworthy activities (note by S.K.). See the original of the
Ancestral Relics in the Armenian version of Vardzk no. 11 at:
http://www.raa-am.com/raa/pdf files/164.pdf.

There are a number of inscribed tombstones close
to the southern wall of St. Sargis Church. Below follow
the epitaphs engraved on them:

Uju E muwnywlG ChphG OhwGtubwd, 1887 widh o-
Unuwnnu 28:

Transl.: In this grave lies Shirin Ohanessian, [who
died] on 28 August 1887.

b nudpwl vhh Uwpphu Untutubwl, oGty 1837
p.-1897:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mahtesy Sargis Musessian:
born in 1837, he died in 1897.

Uju | mwwuwl Uppwhwd Uwhwibwl Fhpul-
oliwlig, 06. 1892. Fuwwlbg hwjtph otnpoy 1917
wwphip 7:

Transl.: In this grave lies Abraham Sahakian
Dilanjiants: born in 1892, he was killed by some
Armenians on 7 April 1917.

Uju [ mwwuwl mhpwgnt Unwpbjhl OhwGbwd,
1870 jniGhuh bL:

Transl.: In this grave lies psalm-reader Arakel
Ohanian, [who died] on 22 June 1870.

Uyu [ mwwwl 3njubih buwfuwlbwlg, Ghw-
unwlptigun] 1917 ubilpintidpbipn 4:

Transl.: In this grave lies Hovsep Isakhaniants, who
suffered martyrdom on 4 September 1917.

Uyu [ mwwwl vhuh buwfwl Uwpmppnuny,
1851 dwpnp 20:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mahtesy Isakhan Martiros-
sov, [who died] on 20 March 1851.

Note: Mahtesy is a title used with reference to Christian believ-

ers who are known to have gone to Jerusalem on pilgrimage.

Right of the western wall of the church, there are
four tombstones of priests, only one of them, Father
Asbatur’s, having an epitaph:

Upju b gl nkp Qupumnmp Mebmppnubd,
1893 jnijhu 1-pG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Father Asbatur Petrossian,
[who died] on I July 1893.

HAFTVAN VILLAGE
16 to 17 August 1959
These are the inscriptions engraved above the west-
ern entrance of St. Gevorg (George) Church, and right
and left of the same entrance:
Clinphop pwpbjpmwphl i wpnbwdp G npnpdnip
Up hnql phlitg. tykntghu Up Q-tnpquy hqy ipymb
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Nuwpuwdw bwljuhlG b wupnl Uthp UjkpuwGha bi
®pinupl 1 wphwuwpuly phhg i wd dnnmpnl
wpwlg b1 Jwlg, otpg tir winng, h hwypwbnmp GG
@hjwyh i dbpy wphbwybl 3nyltu YJpnupn br Guwjh
U ypnuun h pgpmb thnpp Cwhwwuhl, py. (20U
(1652):

Transl.: By the grace of God and the Holy Spirit, this
church of St. Gevorg was built for the salvation of the
souls of Bishop Parsam and Mr. Melik Alexan and
Pilos and all the priests in general and all the people,
men and women, the aged and the young, in the days of
Catholicos Pilipos and our archbishop, Archimandrite
Hov[han|nes, and Archimandrite Yesayi I, in the days
of Shah Abbas Junior, in the year 1101 [1652].

Flwsu Julqlhgo hngny whpymiphkl Utjhp Ujkp-
uwlhl wpbwdpl Ghphbtw] pphumnlp.d widbn
uwuwlbo dtnwdp Uwdh “Lnyh pnwlh, (200 pyhl
(1660):

Transl.: This cross was erected for the salvation of
the soul of Melik Alexan, an innocent Christian ... who
was killed by Safi Ghuli Khan. 1109 [1660].

On a small piece of marble set in the entrance
facade:

Y bpunhl Gnpnqliguit

QnintG Up Q-Enppuw

Qbmudp pmulyha,

Uhuh Quiuginhd ...

Transl.: The door of St. Gevorg [Church] was again
repaired by Mahtesy Karapet, a Catholic ...

Note: The year of the inscription was missing. H.A.

There are about 30 tombstones at the northern wall
of St. Gevorg Church. Below follow the epitaphs of
some of them:

Swwwbhu GGoE Fwihp lvwlwdhpbwl, Jubbgh,
huly wa. Ohwitu LRwlpwGbwG, wdh 1897 20 wuyy-
nhy:

Transl.: In this grave lies Davit Khanamirian, from
Van by birth, and ... Ohanes Kankanian, [who died on]
20 April 1897.

Lorto (Harutiun Hambardzum Vanetsy), who died
on 27 March 1927, is buried next to Davit
Khanamirian.

Uyu I mwwwl bupuyl) uppuquil wppluhuln-
wnuhl' [ wnwelinpny Up. Unwplbyng Jwlhg Puppni-
nhdtnupl, | ootwy dbnwdp Gihpbd Ypnlynupd, |
oliniinG YnunwGumhlGunjubghl, | juwmwpnd/ Up.
Q-Lynpquy Liknkght, | pyhtG DU (1835)-ha:

Transl.: In this grave lies the Most Reverend
Archbishop Israel from Constantinople, Prior of the
monastery of St. Bardughimeos Arakyal [Bartholomew

the Apostle] who was ordained by Catholicos Yeprem.
He died in St. Gevorg Church in the year 1284 [1835].

Most probably, Archbishop Israel was killed in the
yard of the church of Haftvan.

Uju F mwyuwl Ubupmy Jupnuybinm Gunhwiqbu-
Gh, np Guwhwnlbgun 17 wyphy 1891 widh:

Transl.: In this grave lies Archimandrite Mesrop
Papazian, who suffered martyrdom on 17 April 1891.

17 August 1959

The following epitaphs are from the Armenian
cemetery of Haftvan:

Uju F vl Utihp YwpnuGha, npnh Ep Uthp
Swlnphl L Ip huyp ULihp Opnm fuwGhl, Gphuw-
uwpn juuwluwn YJdwpbwg h quwlu up L hnfuliug
wn Lu, pyhl 202 (1731):

Transl.: In this grave lies Melik Vardan, who was
Melik Hakob’s son and Melik Ordu Khan’s father. He
died an untimely death, consigning his soul to Christ in
the year 1180 [1731].

Uju F mwwwl Uthp 34nph npnh Utihp Unihw-
(nupl:

Transl.: In this grave lies Melik Hakob’s son, Melik
Sedpanos.

Ujyu E mwwuwl Cwuwywpni G ULjhptwGha, npnh Ep
Utihp dwpnwiGha L tp pnn dhph UhwpnGhG Uniak-
uhl L pip Gnnuihg Lmiguphl phunwuwpng hwuw-
Uh, phyG :UU (1752):

Transl.: In this grave lies Shaparun Melikian, who
was Melik Vardan’s son and Mahtesy Aaron Muses and
his wife Nupar’s grandchild. [He died] when still young
in the year 1201 [1752].

Uyju I mwwwl wuwpnlG EJwghG npgh Utjhp
UjtpuwGhG L Gnpuyp Utphp Swlnpp, np Gphuw-
uwn hwuwlun Jdwpbwg qybwbu pip L hnfubgun
wn Lu, pyhl QL (1681):

Transl.: In this grave lies Mr. Evaz, Melik Alexan’s
son and Melik Hakob’s brother. He died an untimely
death, consigning his soul to Christ in the year 1130
[1681].

Ujyu E mwwul Uhwpolh Monnubtiwl, 1876:

Transl.: In this grave lies Aaron Poghossian,
died] in 1876.

Uyju [ wwwywGl Upjkpnh npnh OjuGlupl b
hpw Ynnuihg NmdhG, FUGQ-ha (1814):

Transl.: In this grave lie Alverd’s son Ohanes and his
wife Rum. 1263 [1814].

Ujyu £ mwww G UhwpGh npnh dhinh Uwpqupl, np
thnfubiguin wn Lu, hwyng pyhl -6 (1651):

Transl.: In this grave lies Aaron’s son, Mahtesy
Sargis, who consigned his soul to Christ in the year
1100 [1651] of the Armenian calendar:

Ulinpkl Uwpqpu shp wkp Ohwibwl, dunnlbiwg
wldbnhu wwpupyuwg dwwmbwl, tnhG h pwlGnp

[who



VARDZK N 11

pniny nmipwdubiwl, qnip LGpwplhbghlG owonty
uwidwl, vhh PndwubiGg -tnpghu Uwhwlbwd,
2. 1. 1887:

Transl.: That cruel and worthless Sargis Ter-Ohanian
betrayed me to the Persians although I was innocent. I
was put to prison to serve a term of eight months, but I
was treacherously killed there. Mahtesy Gevorgis
Sahakian from Tovmas’ family. 2. 1. 1887.

KYOHNASHAHAR

18 August 1959

I took a carriage and left Shahpur for Kyohnasha-
har, one of the mountain villages in Salmast that was
within about 12 km. Prior to the latest war [the Turkish
invasion of 1918], Kyohnashahar had an Armenian
population of 25 houses. They abandoned the village in
1946: some of them took up residence in Tabriz and
Teheran, while others repatriated to Armenia. At pres-
ent there are no Armenians in this village, except
Nerses Babayan, a well-known specialist in the pro-
duction of red cheese who runs a local cheese factory.

After quenching my thirst with the cool water of the
fountain of Kyohnashahar, I told the cabman to take me
to the site of the local Armenian church. It had been
levelled to the ground, and its stones had been carried
away, a vegetable garden now lying in its yard.
Wandering in this forsaken site for a while, I then got
on the carriage, my heart torn to pieces, to continue my
way to the old Armenian cemetery of Kyohnashahar
and to the chapel of St. Hovhannes [John]: the latter
had been similarly pulled down, its stones having been
appropriated.

I climbed the hill of St. Hovhannes Chapel with
great difficulty, gasping for breath—the consequence
of smoking—to see only a black gravestone that was
about 900 years old. Then I descended to the foot of the
hill and started walking in the Armenian graveyard that
was more than a thousand years old. All the finely-
dressed tombstones had been carried away, and the
cemetery retained only some uninscribed stones with-
out crosses that had been placed there some 700 to
1,000 years before. I examined these old gravestones,
325 in number. The names inscribed on them had most-
ly faded away and I was able to copy only the years,
although they were hardly discernible.

Part of the epitaphs began in the following format:
May the Cross protect ...’s soul; This Cross stands in
memory of ..., Lord Jesus Christ, may You remember the
soul of Your servant ... (the ellipses stand for the names
of the deceased). The words in these epitaphs were
mostly contracted, each with the corresponding sign.

The Armenians deliberately used rough, undressed
and huge blocks of stone to prevent cases of theft and
the defilement of graves. It was only after Shah Abbas
the Great that they started adorning their tombstones

with crosses, reliefs and epitaphs. Such gravestones
especially abounded in the Armenian cemetery of
Savra Village, in Salmast. However, all these stones
were appropriated after 1930, being used in the con-
struction of some military barracks.

It took me five hours to work in the Armenian
cemetery of Kyohnashahar. Exposed to the burning
sun, all by myself, I copied the following epitaphs,
both old and recent, with unspeakable difficulties:

[o]. CL (1081):

Transl.: In the year 530 [1081].

o). 29U (1162):

Transl.: In the year 711 [1162].

0. CIuR (1093):

Transl.: In the year 542 [1093].

husu pwpfuu Fwn wo | Utip Umpnh npnh Utp |
Punuihb, py. NL.9- (1184):

Transl.: May the Cross protect Melik Murat’s son,
Melik Badal, [who died] in the year 633 [1184].

Sp wo Bu Lu, jpplw qhqhu | nip lusinp Ghinl
Ynnupnhl, phja QLA (1283):

Transl.: Lord Jesus Christ, may You remember the
soul of Archimandprite Khachatur, who suffered martyr-
dom in the year 732 [1283].

Sp wo Bu Lu, jplhw ghqhu | wmp 3Bnyhltu
Ypnupnhl, np | Ghinljgun dandp wqqhl | Ghunnug,
py. QLR (1283):

Transl.: Lord Jesus Christ, may You remember the
soul of Archimandrite Hovhannes, who was tortured to
death by [the members of] the nation of the archers
[the Mongol-Tatars] in the year 732 [1283].2

Tusu pupfuu Euppgnt | UlnpnpohG, py. kol (1292):

Transl.: May the Cross protect psalm-reader
Martiros, [who died] in the year 741 [1292].

0. MOQ- (1404):

Transl.: In the year 853 [1404].

[o]. 2h Q- (1474):

Transl.: In the year 923 [1474].

0. 2000 (1510):

Transl.: In the year 959 [1510].

[0]. 2400 (1530):

Transl.: In the year 979 [1530].

0. 1) (1551):

Transl.: In the year 1000 [1551].

oy, (M2 (1589):

Transl.: In the year 1038 [1589].

. N0 (1601):

Transl.: In the year 1050 [1601].

[o. 1< (1621):

Transl.: In the year 1070 [1621].

[o. 111 (1641):

Transl.: In the year 1090 [1641].

2 Archimandrites Khachatur and Hovhannes suffered martyrdom
together in 1283 (H. A.).
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8yuly k up fusu wlinpnh | bundw Uwmnhpnuhd,
pYy. [} (1641):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Khoja
Martiros, who died childless in the year 1090 [1641].

. 1+0 (1651):

Transl.: In the year 1100 [1651].

fusu ppfuu b wn wo | Utjhp Bwpnuhl, np swpsp
dwhdp Ghnl bnb dbndp Uwph “Loyh fuwGha, py.
naua (1652):

Transl.: May the Cross protect Melik Tatos, who was
cruelly tortured to death in the hands of Safi Ghuli
Khan in the year 1101 [1652].

Fusu pwipfuu Ewne Lu Utyp Q-niynquiGh npnh Ubjp
Uwpwipht, np §aG gm bnk dtndp Uwdh “Anigh fuw-
Gha, py. N-QMO (1660):

Transl.: May the Cross protect Melik Guldan’s son,
Melik Safar, who was tortured to death in the hands of
Safi Ghuli Khan in the year 1109 [1660].

Tusu ppfuu Fwn Lu [ Yul pdw dwpnGhG, np GG
qn bk dtndp [ wlphlg, py. (F2QdU (1662):

Transl.: May the Cross protect Khoja Vardan, who
was tortured to death by the cruel enemy in the year
1111 [1662].

o NU(1751):

Transl.: In the year 1200 [1751].

. NUT (1761):

Transl.: In the year 1210 [1761].

Syl k up fusu Ubjhp bqppG, [ np £ npnph nlp
Quipph, | junp dGoh mppphl [ wiwlinkg ghngd, | py.
nuda (1761):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Melik
Nazar, who is Father Zakar’s son. He consigned his
soul to God on Good Friday in the year 1210 [1761].

fusu ppfuu | wn wo | AnlGnunuuq Qnipudphd, |
np qifuingui dtnvp ppnqug, [ py. RUO QG- (1804):

Transl.: May the Cross protect gunmaker Gulamir,
who was beheaded by the Kurds in the year 1253
[1804].

Tusu ppfuu b wn wo Jul hgnjl Nulpulh npnh
Unmipunhd, np thnfubigwn wn wo, py. 1818:

Transl.: May the Cross protect Voskan's son Murat,
who yielded up his spirit to God in the year 1818.

Gtwlp §bGwgu L downyh Ghwd, Ghuwjp L wmbulp
quiju dwhwpdwl, tu” Uwpumppnu npnph dhh OhwGE-
ubwl, dwpmwp L funhbd wphbumpne wdbluyd,
dwhl wlnnnpd fupwo qplpd hd Gnjd dwdwl, wl
bptl opbip uwmpuun Jul juijunbwd, oGtwy 1838,
GlGgliug 1863:

Transl.: Life is like a flower. Come and see this tomb-
stone. I am Martiros, Mahtesy Ohanessian’s son, a
skillful and prudent craftsman. Cruel death severed the
thread of my life.... Born in 1838, I died in 1863.

In order to have some rest, I went to see Nerses
Babayan. Our nostalgic memories took us back into

January 1931, when we were in his shop in Tabriz and
he sang the songs of Ghul Harutiun, a travelling musi-
cian from Salmast, for me to put them down for my
future lecture on Armenian minstrels. The venerable
Armenian, who was already rather advanced in years,
generously treated me to freshly-baked bread, marzoon
[a fermented milk product, similar to yogurt] and red
cheese.

“My friend,” he said to me, “my health is getting
worse. One day I’ll depart this life.”

At 2 o’clock I started for the village of Savra, where
I was going to visit a factory of dried apricots belong-
ing to one of my former pupils, Hakob from Ghara-
dagh.

SAVRA VILLAGE

19 August 1959

Orchards occupying vast plots of land, thick
groves, meadows, grasslands, arables, fields and abun-
dant canals—you are in Savra, once a rich and pros-
pering village purely inhabited by Armenians. Its
Armenian quarters have been reduced to heaps of
ruins. The Armenian church is not preserved either,
only two semi-ruined apses reminding of its existence.
The church yard retains the tombstone of Murad, the
principal character of the outstanding Armenian prose
writer Raffi’s novel, The Diary of a Cross Thief [«tow-
swagnnh hhpwwmwlwpwiy]. It has been covered with
pebble to hide it from view and thus prevent its appro-
priation. Right of the church entrance, Priest
Harutiun’s grave is located (see the epitaph below).

Hakob has been running a factory of dried apricots
here for already 25 years.

It was particularly after the latest war and the
arrival of the Russians that the Armenians of Savra sold
their lands and gardens to the Turks at extremely low
prices and left the village. In 1934 to 1935, on the ini-
tiative of the military authorities, thousands of ornate
tombstones from the local Armenian cemetery were
transported to Shahpur to be used in the construction of
some barracks.

I spent 5 hours in the devastated and abandoned
Armenian quarters and cemetery of Savra. Exposed to
the burning sun, with my heart aching at what I had
become witness to, I made actual-size tracings of two
gravestones and put down the following epitaphs:

Uyu [ mwpwl wip SwpmphiGhl, np wn wo
thnfuligun 1862:

Transl.: In this grave lies Father Harutiun, who con-
signed his soul to God in 1862.

Sp wo Bu Lu, | nnnpuh Jubwys ”lowpniGha:

Transl.: Lord Jesus Christ, may You have mercy upon
... Khatun.

[o]. (PR (1573):
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Transl.: In the year 1022 [1573].

fusu jpunly E PwppuGhG, py. -0b2 (1679):

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Tarlan, [who
died] in the year 1128 [1679].

lusu ppfuu Ewin wo h ipynipll hql Unumndbd,
np E npnh Snjwlupd, py. (-ahU (1672):

Transl.: This Cross stands for the salvation of
Hovhannes’ son Arustam’s soul. [He died] in the year
1121 [1672].

Symly I fusu Unwpih nppp Utjhp Unudhpht, py.
NOR (1603):

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Arakel’s son,
Melik Aghamir, [who died] in the year 1052 [1603].

tusu jpny £ Gnuynh npph Uppquihl, py. (202
(1607):

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Gulo’s son
Mirza, [who died] in the year 1056 [1607].

Sp wo 3u Lu, nnnpdbiw UwpnifuwGh npnh U-
dhpfuGha, py. (FULU (1782):

Transl.: Lord Jesus Christ, may You have mercy upon
Sarukhan’s son Amirkhan, [who died] in the year 1231
[1782].

0. Nufo (1400):

Puwqup Ghunly tnhlG dbndp wqqhl Ghunng:

Transl.: In the year 849 [1400].

A great many people were tortured to death in the
hands of [the members of]| the nation of the archers
[the Mongol-Tatars].

The following was carved on a gravestone serving
as a bridge across a canal in Savra:

Iusu jpuly £ Unyutupd, py. N-UQ (1757):

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Movses,
[who died] in the year 1206 [1757].

Bhpwwmwly b up. fusu dwhwnbuh Opumnihl, py.
NULLe (1789)-ha:

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of
Mabhtesy Ortu, [who died] in the year 1238 [1789].

Bhpwnl b up. fuwsu Uwpmhpnuhl, py. (210K9
(1727):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of
Martiros, [who died] in the year 1176 [1727].

Another gravestone placed across a canal in a gar-
den in the north of the Armenian cemetery was
engraved with this epitaph:

b duwdwlhu UfunwfuwGha,

Unmuinnpghl pphunn(p. G,

Fuwqu wqqlp qbpbghd,

Fuwqd umwjp pjuyunbghd,

Ny up Bu” hwu oqlinipfud,

Uqqhpu hwijg wip thplymiphG, py. O-UL0- (1790):

Transl.: In Akhtakhan’s days, Christians were put to
slaughter, many nations were taken captive and a great
many boys were circumcised. Oh, You, Lord Jesus, may

You come to rescue and save the Armenian nation. In
the year 1239 [1790].

Most probably, this tombstone was placed over a
common grave where several martyrs were buried:

8npdu fupdhp gy, hulj puqup h pphunlp.g
Ghwny tnd. py. QL (1281):

When the Kezelbashes [came], many
Christians suffered martyrdom in the year 730 [1281].

Bhpwly L oup fusu, fowshyh npnh Unwplbiht, py.
namy (1692):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Kha-
chik’s son Arakel, [who died] in the year 1141 [1692].

3 L up fuwsu EJuwghl, mp dwjp flonmdhd, py.
NULE (1786):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Evaz
[and] his mother Khuom, [who died] in the year 1235
[1786].

3y k up juws Uwppwpumpd, py. UPLC (1779):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of
Markarit, [who died] in the year 1228 [1779].

Transl.:

Some of the old gravestones of the cemetery were
carved with the following inscriptions:

0. U1 (1041):

Transl.: In the year 490 [1041].

0. Clu (1091):

Transl.: In the year 540 [1091].

fov]. QLU (1282):

Transl.: In the year 731 [1282].

0. NG (1556):

Transl.: In the year 1005 [1556].

PAYAJUK

21 August 1959

Engraved on a marble stone lying south of St.
Gevorg Church:

Uju b nuwywl np Unwplihl, np hwlgnigbuy
qw h up Gylnbkght, ny np hwlmhwybp wju mwuyw-
Ghda, 1h ppwlng nnip gnnnpuhd:

Transl.: In this grave, near the holy church, reposes
... Arakel. May those who come across it pray for his
soul wholeheartedly [undated - H. A.].

b nudpwpuGhu GGl buwhwly wppbwu. Uwnni-
GG bpuwfumunnp wnwelnpn UmpuyunlGh <wjlw-
qliG, 1857 wuh dwpnp 24-hG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Archbishop Isahak Sadune,
the meritorious primate of the Armenians of Azerbaijan
[Province]. [He died] on 24 March 1857.

b nudpwpwGhu GGok Q-phgnp wppbuylu Unipb-
nhwl’ Jyhdwunnp wnwelinn UmpwGh, np hGqbun
npuh 1882 Gnj. 17:

Transl.: In this grave lies Archbishop Grigor Mu-
sheghian, Primate of Azerbaijan Diocese, who depart-
ed this life on 17 November 1882.
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b nudpwpwGhu Glok fuwiswlhp winuq phly wkp
Uppwhwd UmbthwGbwd, np hwiqbiwn 1874 oqnu-
umnu 21:

Transl.: In this grave lies Archpriest Abraham
Stepanian, who had the honour of wearnig a pectoral
cross. He departed this life on 21 August 1874.

Epitaphs from the cemetery of Payajuk:

fusu jhpinly E Uwmnppnuhd, py. (20 (1660):

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Martiros,
[who died] in the year 1109 [1660].

Uju b vl ULgp 84yph npnh Ubip Gpupnhd,
np Ghufgr dtndp Uwdh ALnyh fuwbGha, py. (100
(1660):

Transl.: In this grave lies Melik Hakob’s son, Melik
Karapet, who was tortured to death in the hands of Safi
Ghuli Khan in the year 1109 [1660].

Sp wo Bu Lu, npnpdbw | Ukyp Luwquiphl, np
snsp [ vwhdp Ghinly bnk dGndp | Uwph “Lniyh fuwGha,
| py. (1000 (1660):

Transl.: Lord Jesus Christ, may You have mercy upon
Melik Nazar, who was cruelly tortured to death in the
hands of Safi Ghuli Khan in the year 1109 [1660].

Tusu ppfuwiiu wn wo Ulyp Uwlwulkphl, np Ghinl
dbnup Uwdh “Anyh fuwbGha, py. G0 (1660):

Transl.: May this Cross protect Melik Manaser, who
was tortured to death in the hands of Safi Ghuli Khan
in the year 1109 [1660].

fugu jpny [ Unudhph [ npnph Gmpudpphl, np §al
qn | tnk dtndp wlphGuwg, | py. 060 (1660):

Transl.: May this Cross protect Aghamir’s son
Gulamir, who was tortured to death in the hands of the
cruel enemy in the year 1109 [1660].

Mnnpibw | Ubjp Gwquph npph [ Ukip 34phd, py.
naduy (1662):

Transl.: May You have mercy upon Melik Nazar’s
son, Melik Hakob, [who died] in the year 1111 [1662].

P umyGh wyud higsh | dwpdhlG Ubip Q-nishGh, |
py. 0-alulU (1692):

Transl: In this grave lie the remains of Melik
Gulchin, [who died] in the year 1141 [1692].

lusu ppfuu b Luh onj wmkp 3yphG, py. (FOluQ
(1697):

Transl.: May this Cross protect Christ’s servant,
Father Hakob, [who died] in the year 1146 [1697].

lvsu jpinly L wp fownknu phGhG, np [ npnh mp
Ppnnuu phGhd, py. (U (1751):

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Priest
Tadevos, Priest Bardughimeos’ son, [who died] in the
year 1200 [1751].

Tusu ppfuu | wn wo Jul hnql <wfulignhl, np k
npnh dpnqugphd, py. (FUD (1771):

Transl.: May this Cross protect the soul of
Hakhnazar, who is Vardazar’s son. [He died] in the
year 1220 [1771].

Uju b mwwwlu niuwhngh Uwpghu OhwGbwl
Pmuunwjhl, h dwdwlwly np btnb dGo pwpd h puw-
nupl lvojw wlwn:

Transl.: In this grave lies Sargis Ohanian Buta of
blessed memory. [He died] during the great earth-
quake® that struck the city of Khoy in the summer [the
epitaph is undated - H. A.].

Uju E mwwwl E dwaghl, pyplG UG (1810):

Transl.: In this grave lies Vaz, [who died] in the year
1269 [1810].

Boml] t mwwyuwl Pnunwnh npnph OhwGhG |
1827-hG:

Transl.: This grave[stone] stands in memory of
Butagh’s son Ohan, [who died] in 1827.

Uju | mwwywl dhh Guiquiph npnh Swilnpht 1832:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mahtesy Nazar’s son
Hakob, [who died] in 1832.

Uju F mwuyulG vhh GwiquiphG, 1832:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mahtesy Nazar, [who died]
in 1832.

Uju F nmwwulG Pmnwn OhwGbwG, 1871:

Transl.: In this grave lies Botagh Ohanian, [who
died] in 1871.

Uju | mwwwl hwlqunbwl 3njhwiGtu AL
Pnunwnh, | Gphunwuwpn wqlnwljub, | nnpnpdh dh
nwy dhowpdwl, 1873:

Transl.: In this grave lies Hovhannes Bey Butagh, a
young nobleman deserving your prayers for his soul.
1873.

Uju b mwwul lununoh npnh 9phgnphl, 1876
wuh Gnj. 2-hG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Khuto’s son Grigor, [who
died] on 2 November 1876.

Gu’ Gnhwqup Jupnuw b, Yruwlhg | p. wnwg-
Gnpn Pwpnminpdbwy Juwlhg | b dwdwluwlu dbo
wwwmbpwquhl nntuwg quijubp pln oudwlgnih, tnk
nwpwqhp wuwm h Uwjdwuwm, guiop hbomplwdpp
tinfubgw wn wo: (1h, dGwg wiljuwuwp huhwqu
pqubugu Juwul Julhgu L wqqhu fundjbg, | wih
unl 1878 | ognuwnnu 28-h Qwjwonily, 1290:

Transl.: [ am sorrowful Archimandprite Yeghiazar, the
Prior of the monastery of [St.] Bardughimeos [Bartho-
lomew]. During the great war the Russian emperor
fought against the Ottomans, I had to abandon it and
come to Salmast. Unfortunately, I consigned my soul to
God in pain and sorrow. Oh, my wishes connected with
the ... monastery and my nation were left unrealised. [1
died] in Payajuk on 28 August 1878 (1290%).

3 Probably, this was the earthquake of 1779, which inflicted serious
damage on many cities and districts such as Tabriz, Guna, Tasu,
Salmast, Urmia, Van and Khoy. See “hiwl hwjng wwun-
dmptiwl, ghpp d- [Documents Relating to Armenian History, vol.
10] (Tiflis, 1912), p. 146; Uwlp dwiwGuljugpmpyniGGtp, h. U
[Collected Chronicles, vol. 1] (Yerevan, 1951), p. 380; vol. 2
(Yerevan, 1956), p. 494 (note by the editor).

4 1290 is the year according to the Persian calendar (H. A.).
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Uuin hwligsh Qbpbwl dwyp rwddhh, olbkwy
1819 p., uwjudwltiwy 1904 p. hnlpinbdptip 28-ha:

Transl.: Here reposes Raffi’s mother Jerian: born in
1819, she died on 28 October 1904.

Uuwn hwlqshl nuljbpp .... 2hppwjbiwl Poiuw-
nbwlgh, 0G. 1873, Yud. 1904 hnljn. 4:

Transl.: Here repose ... Jibraelian Butaghiants’
remains: born in 1873, [s]he died on 4 October 1904.

Uqlht pwpbpup Swindhp Upwdbwd, Gphunw-
uwpn hwuwgh hwubwy i Jwhmwd, oninwl Uw-
Gwulpbwl qnyhih hpfuwl, pnnbwy b uniq uppun dbp
wubbwyl, wy 1887 jnijhup 9-ha:

Transl.: Noble benefactor Tanomir Aramian, who
died an untimely death while still young. Praiseworthy
prince Khutan Manaserian left all of us with mournful
hearts on 9 July 1887.

SARNA VILLAGE

23 August 1959

Carved on a tombstone:

Uju E mwuygwl hwGingbwy wyn <wpniphGhG, np
bnt vwulwlhg LEphy Onh EYwgq, | (FULEG (1786):

Transl.: In this grave lies minstrel Harutiun of
blessed memory ... Keshish Oghli Evaz, [who died] in
the year 1235 [1786].

Inscribed on the other side of the tombstone (in
Turkish in the Armenian script):

Guj Uwjdwuim Ly Swpniphil Guquul imp
Puwpwl | GmohG dwpqly Ljjuwdwlowl bGufipdw
wqpp wmuwpwl:

Note: The epitaph which is too unintelligible to be translated con-
tains the toponym Salmast and the personal name Harutiun (note by
the translator).

A cross is engraved beneath this Turkish epitaph.

Tusu pwpbfuu b | wn wo Jul thpymp. | dhh Cwyj-
quinhd, | py. (FUR (1757):

Transl.: May this Cross save Mahtesy Shahgald’s
soul. [He died] in the year 1206 [1757].

8ywl  fuwisu Ghpwnuh npnh dwhh Giputuhd,
py. (MUT“F (1765) nblpn. bR-hG:

Transl.: This Cross stands in memory of Kirakos’
son, Mahtesy Nerses, [who died] on 28 December 1214
[1765].

Shpwwnwly b up. jpwsu Ukihp Ukpoh npnh foni-
umunjkpnh winuighG, | py. (-R0P (1771) ognun. 4-hG:

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Melik
Nero’s son, Agha Khutaverdi, [who died] on 4 August
1220 [1771].

Uju | mwwuw G muwhnigh GhyGuquphl | 9ph-
qnpluud, | UG (1826)-hG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Kyulnazar Grigorian of
blessed memory, [who died] in 1275 [1826].

MAHLAM VILLAGE

23 August 1959

Every year the Armenians of Mahlam visit the pil-
grimage site of Vardanank, in the neighbourhood of the
village, to celebrate the feast of the Holy Commander
Vardan and his followers. A requiem service is con-
ducted to honour their memory, animals are sacrificed,
incense is burnt, and a festive party is held, the people
eating, drinking and dancing.

KHOY CITY
27 August 1959
I went to the Armenian church of the city, St.
Sargis, together with Margar Torgomian and Vahan
Sargissian, who were from Tabriz.

The following inscriptions were carved on the pil-
lars of the church:

Up. fuwgu ppfuu £ dpngh (Owpnup npnh Swppnt-
Gha, py. N0 (1661):

Transl.: May the Holy Cross protect Harutiun, the
son of Tatos from Maragha, [who died] in 1110 [1661].

Up. fuwsu ppfuou UhGwufh npnh Mnpnupl dpwn-
gh, py. QLR (1683):

Transl.: May the Holy Cross protect Minas’ son
Petros from Maragha, [who died] in 1132 [1683].

Up. fusu pwpfuu Uwpquh npnh “Lntjuuhpl, py.
nao (1701):

Transl.: May the Holy Cross protect Sargis’ son
Ghukas, [who died] in the year 1150 [1701].

Up. uwgu jpnly £ Lhpphd, p. (LU (1751):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Kirb,
[who died] in the year 1200 [1751].

Carved on some tombstones laid in the masonry
beside the church door:

[o4. 02 (1659), | fusu jhpunly E NulpuuGha, Uwihlhi:

Transl.: In the year 1108 [1659]: this Cross stands in
memory of Voskan [and] Sahak.

Uju E unwupuul Udunnph npnh Unuidhp, py. (FQL (1681):

Transl.: In this grave lies Astvatzatur’s son Aghamir,
[who died] in the year 1130 [1681].

Uju I mwwuwl 3Binph npph MNbwmpnupd, py.
naLuy (1682):

Transl.: In this grave lies Hakob’s son Petros, [who
died] in the year 1131 [1682].

Engraved on a gravestone laid in the masonry
beside the northern door of the church:

Uju [ mwwywl (Munmw .... bpuwphl, py. (2abU
(1672):

Transl.: In this grave lies master ...ibar, [who died] in
the year 1121 [1672].
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SEYDAVAR VILLAGE

28 August 1959

The village of Seydavar, situated within 4 kilome-
tres of the city of Khoy, has abundant water supplies,
thanks to which, it is rich in extensive plots of land,
cultivated fields, gardens, groves and meadows. Prior
to World War 1, it was purely inhabited by Armenians,
with a population of about 100 houses. It had a small
pitiable church and a two-floor school.

THE EVENTS THAT TOOK PLACE IN MAKU
DISTRICT IN 1914 TO 1918°

We [Nazlu Hakobian-Tadevossian is recalling]
were in the city of Maku in the summer of 1914, when
the war broke out. The Russians entered Azerbaijan
[Province] to advance towards Bayazed and Van. We
lived in peace and safety in Maku until July 1915,
when the Russians started retreating. Forced to move
away from the city, we went first to Khoy and then to
Julfa, but we did not stay in either of these places for
long. Eventually reaching the Ararat Valley, we lived in
Igdir and Ghamarlu for some time. Later we returned
to Maku, and in the autumn of 1917, we started living
in the monastery of Sourb Tadevos Arakyal [St.
Thaddeus the Apostle]. Both the monastery and the
nearby village, which had around 30 Armenian houses
with nearly two hundred inhabitants, were in prosper-
ous conditions.

From December 1917 until January 1918, the
Russians completely withdrew from the district of
Artaz.

Within about 60 km of the monastery, the village of
Kishmish Tapa was located, with around 40 Armenian
houses (250 inhabitants). Maku City had an Armenian
population of 70 houses (400 inhabitants).

In April 1918 the Turkish troops entered
Azerbaijan. The inhabitants of Vank Village, who had
found shelter in the monastery, put up a heroic resist-
ance against them and the mob of the Kurds and Turks
of Maku District.

After 15 days of siege, the Turks understood that it
was impossible to go beyond the walls of the
monastery and decided to put a bomb beneath a tower
at night. The wall was exploded, after which a group of
fighters defending the monastery broke through the
siege through the collapsed part under a shower of bul-
lets and descended towards the nearby gorge. Then
they climbed the mountain on which the chapels are
situated and headed in an unknown direction, taking
advantage of the night darkness.

5 This story was told to me by Nazlu Hakobian-Tadevossian, 85,
born in Salakhane Village, on 10 November 1959 (on Tuesday
night). H. A.

Throughout the siege, the Armenians resisted the
Turks heroically. They had plenty of food (bread, oil,
cheese and cereals), but they were in bad need of water
which was procured from the river running in the gorge
(the river was reached through an opening in the part of
the walls that was close to the prior’s room). Special
mention should be made of a Turk named Zeynal who
secretly provided the Armenians with water.

The regular Turkish troops and the bands of Turks
and Kurds broke into the yard of the monastery where
there were only a group of old women and little chil-
dren. Among them was Ano, a blind woman whom the
Turks severely beat and whipped to force her to show
them the hiding-place of the monastic property. The
sacred vessels and utensils of the monastery, the priest-
ly vestments as well as the silver, gilded right hand of
St. Thaddeus the Apostle, which were kept in a cache
close to the altar [according to the author, the cache
was close to the dome] were all stolen. The beautiful
young women and girls huddled up in the yard of the
monastery were selected and taken away, while the
aged, the sick and the injured were slaughtered.

The Armenians of the village adjacent to the
monastery were either massacred or taken captive, only
some of them escaping this carnage.

The Turks also killed Ano’s husband Arshak, the
verger of the village church, and took their daughter
into captivity, forcing her to convert to Islam.

Most of the Armenians of Kishmish Tapa Village,
mentioned above, were similarly killed, only those hid-
den being saved. Some of them, both boys and girls,
had to convert to Islam and marry Turks.

Now the turn came for the Armenians of Maku. The
order to slaughter them was given by either Sardar
Igbal Saytan or the Turkish commander Ali Ehsan.

One of the khans of Maku, a kind-hearted man
named Mustafa Pasha, sheltered 16 families of Armen-
ians in the yard of his large house for two months, until
the Turks’ withdrawal. If it is true that the Armenians of
Maku City were slaughtered on the order of the sardar,
that carnage was carried out by a blood-thirsty khan
named Beklarbek, one of the sardar’s subordinates.

A cemetery extending on a hill behind the monas-
tery of St. Thaddeus the Apostle retains the remains of
16 of the 32 Armenian volunteers who organised the
self-defence of the monastery in December 1914.
During that heroic resistance, 16 of them were killed,
while the other 16 kept fighting until they had totally
run out of bullets. As already said above, they descend-
ed into the nearby gorge, and leaving the adjacent hills
behind them, they reached a Turkish village. Its head
promised not to betray them, but he did not keep his
word.

Exhausted, sleepless, cold-stricken and hungry, the
volunteers were having rest when all of a sudden an
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armed Turkish mob poured in and killed them right on
the spot.

Now more than 40 years have passed since these
events: careful and detailed studies in the district of
Maku will certainly reveal that the Kurdish and Turkish
villages of the district have a lot of inhabitants aged 45
and above who are considered to be Turks, but they say
that they are Armenians. They still remember their par-
ents although they have preserved no traits of
Armenian identity.

From among the priors of St. Thaddeus the Apostle,
mention should be made of Archimandrite Petros
Ghazarian, who served the monastery throughout 34
years, defending its reputation and property at any cost.
He was so influential that his opinions were often taken
into account even by the sardar of Maku who was
known as a true tyrant.

After the victorious end of World War II, many
Armenians living outside the borders of Soviet
Armenia, including those of Vank Village and Maku
City, repatriated to their homeland.

Archimandrite Petros lived in the monastery all by
himself for almost two years. Then he got ill and went
to an American hospital in Tabriz where he died on 31
December 1948. He was buried close to the southern
wall of the Armenian church of St. Shoghakat. His
grave has a long, yellowish stone with an epitaph
which can be read on page 12.

MAHLAZAN VILLAGE

28 August 1959

Carved on one of the pillars of the village church:

Gu' dbnuinp wlwpdwl L wlyhmwl thdnml L
nyth vtnuwwwpm mphpwgn Ujwpu, np G uwj-
dwuwmbgh [mnl Quwjwently, np bLnuw Upnmwqlu
YnnunhlG fonjuy, qGugh tphhpG Uwpdwum pnnnp
wmwliby, hwpp L tnpuwpp fulinpbid dtquiGk, np Yuw-
Gkp dbtip Litnlght, dhwpbpwl fulinpbd unipp upump
wmkp wo b pwlGl mnhn £, mf hwpp L typwpp, (2096
(1736):

Transl.: I, worthless and wretched sinner ... psalm-
reader Avag, from Payajuk Village of Salmast, met
Archimandrite Artages of Khoy [and] went to Salmast
to raise a voice of protest. Fathers and brothers, my
request is that you enter our church ... Oh, you, fathers
and brothers. 1185 [1736].

Note: The ellipses stand for those parts of the inscription that are
just clusters of words without any coherence.

The village church used to be paved with rough
stones. Its dome, of symmetrical forms and inwardly
adorned with murals, rises over four pillars. The font,
sanctuary and altar stone are not preserved. The hollow
of the font can be seen on the right side [in the north-
ern wall]. The altar apse used to be adorned with

murals depicting the Annunciation, the Entombment of
Christ, the 4 Evangelists and the 12 apostles. There
were also other elements of decoration that were
coloured.

Apart from the cruciform window of its sanctuary,
the church also had 3 windows opening from each of
its southern and northern facades. Its columns have
inscriptions in Armenian dated 1620, 1635, 1637 and
1692.

The church has Persian arches [the author probably
means lancet arches] and niched shelves in its walls.

The gavit (narthex) is adorned with arches. Right of
its principal door, there are two ornate cross-stones one
of which has the following inscription:

Up. lusu jpnly £ wp Uwpqul L Ynnlhgd, py. (YOG
(1656):

Transl.: This Holy Cross stands in memory of Father
Sargis and his wife. In the year 1105 [1656].

The following is carved on the main door of the
church:

Guidopli wy bi......gh | tingu h dwdwGuwlih UR
UV | kphnp Uwppih “Angh fuwGhG hwphdniph
Unm (hquppht b hjpuump. hwjng wmi wmp 3hynygpw
wnolinnniph uip Uhpwtipt ... pulgnt Cwdpligh np
Tuspl, wyhbpn £ wlG 34h plGgr dndp ghinu phGuwh
b1 dnypn, py. 0P (1671) | ywmn Q-

ML (1443) Q- (3) v(w)pnh:

Sp 3u, wip Bwpnip:

Transl.: By the grace of God ... this church in the times
of ... Dghiotr Sartip Ghuli Khan ... Agha Youzbashi, in
the days of Catholicos of Armenians Hakob [and]
Primate Michael ... Khachatur from Shamb, ... Hakob’s
pupil. [The church] was built by the village priest and
the [local] people on 3 March 1120 [1671].

3 March 892 [1443].

Lord Jesus, Father Harut.

The gavit preserves about 10 large gravestones
which are uninscribed. Only the year 1101 [1652]
could somehow be discerned on one of them.

The church cemetery, extending opposite its eastern
wall, covered quite an extensive area with hundreds of
old, mostly uninscribed stones that were about 1,000
years old. A ram-shaped tombstone had the following
epitaph:

Sp Unpty, py. [} (1551):

Transl.: Father Arakel, [who died] in the year 1000
[1551].

TABRIZ
13 September 1959 (the feast of the Holy Cross)
Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Chapel in the
quarter of Maralan
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Carved on a gravestone:

Shyhl Qnhwp wdnmupld UmbthwG Upgnidw-
Gbwl vwydwuwmbgny, Juiud. 18 dwmn 1911 p. 86 wd
hwuwly:

Transl.: Mrs. Gohar, the spouse of Stepan Arzuman-
ian from Salmast: she died at the age of 86 on 18
March 1911.

[owdwp mhyhl Snyqunbwlg’ gniuup fuwGhi
Jwhpwibwlg, h 6Gwihy dwpn juwpfuwiph 6Gwy hlp-
Ght, wn wumnuwd Juwud. 21 wdbwy h 15 hng 1881:

Transl.: Mrs. Tamar Gulzatiants, Khan Vahramiants’
daughter. A human being is all by himself at birth. She
died at the age of 21 on 15 October 1881.°

10 November 1959

Epitaphs from the Armenian cemetery of Tabriz

Carved on the southern side of a memorial dedicat-
ed to Archbishop Nerses Melik-Tangian:

Uuw hwlqsh upilibgh S. Lbputu wppbuy. | UL-
1hp-Owliqlw, | wphiGnn opbph wqquGikp wnwye-
Gnpn b wuwpnwyuwl <wyng Umpyunnwlubh, |
1866-1948:

Transl.: In this grave lies the Most Reverend
Archbishop Nerses Melik-Tangian, the devoted leader
and protector of the Armenians of Azerbaijan
[Province] in the bloody days. 1866 to 1948.

On the northern side of the memorial:

<nyh1 pwg quuldl pip nGk h Yhpwy nsfuwpug:

Guinnighg L Gippkg wpdwluwgnpo b(Qluwb)
Luwypwlmbwl:

Transl.: A brave shepherd sacrifices himself for the
sake of his sheep.

Made and presented by
Nalbantian.

sculptor Ishkhan

Below follows the inscription of St. Shoghakat
Church (I am the author of its text - H.A.):

Gunmgun U. Cnnuwljwp Ghbnbghu h jhpunul
wmply. Cnnquliwp Uwlniswpbwih wpnbwdp npnng
Gnpw™ UpdnGh h dwdwlwlu wnwelnpnbl hwjng
ukp Uhputu wppby. Ubjhp-OwiqbwGh, | 28 jnijhu
1940-h pmipl, hwjng (23310

Transl.: This church of St. Shoghakat was built in
memory of Mrs. Shoghakat Manucharian with her son
Simon’s means in the days of the Primate of the Armen-
ians [of Azerbaijan Province], the Most Reverend Arch-
bishop Nerses Melik-Tangian, on 28 July 1940, in 1380
of the Armenian calendar.

This simple epitaph was carved on a marble stone
placed over Archimandrite Petros’ grave close to the
southern wall of St. Shoghakat Church:

6 These lines were carved on the tombstone of Mesrop Taghiatian’s
wife, lady Tang. In 1881 it was still in the yard of the mother
church of Tabriz, but later it was moved away (note by H. A.).

Swuwwl MNbnpnu Juwpnuy. “Luqupbwd, | oG.
1893 dwyhu 10, | wfu. 1948 nhijn. 31:

Transl.: In this grave lies Archimandrite Petros
Ghazarian: born on 10 May 1893, he died on 31
December 1948.

Juwnudbnhly uhpm G dwGihly Updta Udkdbwd, |
oa. 10 ymGnuwp 1936, | Jfud. 22 jnijhu 1937:

Transl.: Handsome child Armen Ajemian,7 who died
a premature death: born on 10 January 1936, he died
on 22 July 1937.

wlqhun Cnnuwlwp UwlniswpbwGh,

Ol. 29 dwpun 1871, <pl Luwfuhholuud,

Jfud. 23 thtiup 1939, [Owiphq:

Transl.: In this grave lies Shoghakat Manucharian:
born in Hin [Old] Nakhijevan on 29 March 1871, she
died in Tabriz on 23 February 1939.

Uzfuwphp dp. p76s Yy juilu,

Luwli whivnnwg jhywumuly,

GQuiliglihl nupbp, dwpnhly wihbuu,

UGdwh §p dGw jhpunnwly:

Transl.: Is there anything ever-living in this world
except perpetual memory? With centuries elapsing,
people come and depart, only memory remaining
immortal.®

Swwwl [ wnwdGwpnyd | Ugpummd Uwhwbw-
Gh, [ 0G. 1878 ymbi. 12, [ Jud. 1918 hnlpn. 21:

Transl.: In this grave lies dentist Mkrtum Sahakian:
born on 12 January 1878, he died on 21 October 1918.

{ujwumwGh <wlpuybnmpbwl qlinuubn U.
U. Unpnpny, | 1863-1927:

Transl.: Colonel of the Republic of Armenia A. A.
Korolkov. 1863 to 1927.

Also engraved in Russian on the other face of the stone - H.A.

Quuupup Swynpbwd, 1884-1932:
Transl.: Gaspar Hakobian. 1884 to 1932.

Ulipnl Swlnptiwl, 1889-1954:
Transl.: Melkon Hakobian. 1889 to 1954.

Swuwyul UpdbGwly Uppwlinhibwlh, | 0G. 24 jnij.
1885, [ lud. 11 jniGhu 1941:

Transl.: In this grave lies Armenak Aftandilian: born
on 24 July 1885, he died on 11 June 1941.

Swwwl | Qumniun fuwl UnuqupbwbGh, |
YJwfud. 20 dwjhu 1938:

7 My son’s tombstone (H. A.).
8 I myself have written this epitaph (H. A.).
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Transl.: In this grave lies Galust Khan Aghazarian,
who died on 20 May 1938.

{wlighun UhhpwG QphgnpbwGh SnipnipbpuGh
{wpp quuwnhg, | 0G. 1883, Jud. 16 ubuwn. 1936,
[owiphgq:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mihran Grigorian from
Hark District of Turuberan [Taron Province]: born in
1883, he died in Tabriz on 16 September 1936.

Stp Ubupnwy Uibnpubw@, | dwipbgh, | Jud. 31
dwjhu 1936:

Transl.: Father Mesrop Avetissian from Maku: he
died on 31 May 1936.

Jwpnul Unuwpktybwd, [ 0G. 1893, | Jfud. 1938:
Transl.: Vardan Aghabekian: born in 1893, he died
in 1938.

Pd. (knipkl Stp UnbihwGhw G, fuwppbpngh, [ 0G.
1887 Gnjbdp. 11, | Jfud. 1937 jmGhu 5:

Transl.: Doctor Ruben Ter-Stepanian from Kharberd:
born on 11 November 1887, he died on 5 June 1937.

Uwpwnpl Cwphpltwl, | mwpwghp, | o0G. 18
thtunp. 1867, [ Jlud. 10 ognuwn. 1940:

Transl.: Martin Shatirian: born on 18 February
1867, he died on 10 August 1940, while away from
home.

Uwdunl (£.3.“F. qhlwlpwl) [Cuwnknubwd,
olintwo 1870, Ugnijhu, [Jfud. 1 dwpmn 1945, Cwiphq:

Transl.: Samson [the emblem of the Armenian
Revolutionary Federation Party carved next to the
name - H. A.] Tadevossian: born in Agulis in 1870, he
died in Tabriz on 1 March 1945.

Uqqujhl L jhnunpnfuwlul puquiwpfuunn gnp-
opy | Quypwybn (L.3.0. ghGwywG) Nubhpbwd, |
oG. 1879, dwd, [ Yfud. 1947, [Owiphq:

Transl.: Meritorious national and revolutionary fig-
ure Hayrapet [the emblem of the Armenian
Revolutionary Federation Party carved next to the
name - H. A.] Panirian: born in Van in 1879, he died
in Tabriz in 1947.

Jwpnul Omiwibwd, | 0G. 15.7.1868, | yfud.
28.4.1939:

Transl.: Vardan Tumanian: born on 15 July 1868, he
died on 28 April 1939.

GunwphGE Qwqupbwd, 0G. 1862, | Jluds. 1945
Jnilinuup 4, | Bwiphq:

Transl.: Katarine Ghazarian:® born in 1862, she died
in Tabriz on 4 January 1945.

9 She is Raffi’s sister (note by H. A.).

Epitaphs copied in the cemetery lying in the yard of
the Armenian church of St. Sargis

Uyupw G wpml pt Gbpbl dtq vbp npnhp, pnn nng
wypfuwiph hwyhG jupnuw Gufunhlp, 1896:

Transl.: If our sons forgive you all this bloodshed, the
whole world may then reprimand the Armenians. 1896.

Luipuy-Ugpinpys Qwpupkihl, 23 mupbiuG:
Transl.: To Jalal-Mkrtich Jalalbek, aged 23.

Ctiyo-Uppwly Pwpuwdhd, 27 muwphpl:
Transl.: To Sheko-Arshak Barsam, aged 27.

Swuwwl Unuqg UwpqubwGh, [ 0G. 1870, | Gwhw-
nwluuo 1915 2 jnilinnwp:

Transl.: In this grave lies Avag Sargissian: born in
1870, he suffered martyrdom on 2 January 1915.

Swujul | Munpnu fuwl Ubihp UGnpkwubwGh, |
otiuo 1879 nbilpn. 26-ha, | Jundwd. 1912 jnily. 7-
ha:

Transl.: In this grave lies Petros Khan Melik
Andreassian: born on 26 December 1879, he died on 7
January 1912.

Upumuwptu MuwhpuniGh, | oGwd bgnhpmid 1873
p- [ Jwudwda. Pwiphg, 1922 p.:

Transl.: Artashes Pahlavuny: born in Igdir in 1873,
he died in Tabriz in 1922.

Carved on the monument dedicated to the Armen-
ian Revolutionary Federation Party, together with its
emblem:

UYyninps Quuyptitwl 1896
Uppwly Pwpndbwl 1896
Uhuwl UwGsobwl 1909
Upwnbd (luquhl 1908
Uhlny QubGdwlbgh 1908
Uwpumppnu Qwpnifustiwl 1909
Guwpo Umnwidtingh 1909
Utpo <wghlgh 1909
Q-tnpqg Ghpwlnubwl 1909
MNbnpnu U. UlGnptwubwl 1912
UmbithwG S. Uymnstwl 1917
Transl.: Mkrtich Jalalbekian 1896
Arshak Baromian 1896
Misak Manchoyan 1909
Artem Razmik 1908
Nikol Gandzaketsy 1908
Martiros Charukhchian 1909
Karo Artamettsy 1909
Seto Hatsiktsy 1909
Gevorg Kirakossian 1909
Pedros M. Andreassian 1912
Stepan T. Mkrtichian 1917
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Below follows the construction inscription of St.
Sargis Church:

Chlbgun U. Uupghu thtntghu h 5 dwmnp 1845
wih, L h pmpl hwyng (UL, h hwjpwwybmnib
wmbwnl Ubpuhuh G-h, wyluwmmpbwdp Quipupbw
wiwq pwhwlwjh Skp Qupwnpbwlg, wpnpbwdp pw-
phwyuwpym hwjwuqqoh dnnqnypnuwljutug:

Transl.: This church of St. Sargis was built on 5
March 1843, in 1292 of the Armenian calendar, in the
days of Catholicos Nerses V, through Archpriest
Zakaria Ter-Zakariants’ efforts, with funds donated by
pious Armenians.

The following is the inscription carved on the
entrance facade of Tamarian School:

Qunmgun wmwypngu wppbwdp wnw  9phgnp
Onifwllwbh b jhrwwmwl pip hop” Quipwnp., dop’
RQunwhhph, Junudbnhl ppng’ Cwdwph, L nstigu
[Pwdwpbwl nupng, 1895:

Transl.: This school was built through Agha Grigor
Tumanian’s donation in memory of his father Zakare,
his mother Javahir [and] his sister Tamar, who died a
premature death. And it was called Tamarian School.
1895.

Swwwl mp Swlinyp wiwq pwhwlwih Stp Gu-
puwbmbwl dmdndpwnpging, Jufudwlbtwy 79 wdwg
hwuwgh L 47 wdbwy pwhwGuynit pipmd, 11 jniGhu
1890 wuh:

Transl.: In this grave lies Archpriest Hakob Ter-
Karapetian from Muzhambar, who died at the age of
79, in the 47th year of his priesthood, on 11 June 1890.

b jhwnmwl Juwnuwdbnhl nuwlng PwpqLl
UmbtihwGbtwGh, 04. 10 hnlpn. 1920-4wfud. ... wuyphy
1940, qupmgun quGquiunml wpnbwdp hopl
ipny” Udpuwnn UmbthwGhwGh:

Transl.: The belfry was built in memory of student
Babgen Stepanian: born on 10 October 1920, he died
a premature death in April 1940.

Below follow two inscriptions carved on the north-
ern door of St. Sargis Church:

Pwpgnipunngh vhnuh MbmpnubwG L pip Gnnu-
hhg “rahtiw Bwumupbiwl phlikg qnninu wju jhpul).
Jwl bybnbginju UplG Uwpqup, npnid oqlwlwl
thgh jung, p. 1821 wuyphy wdubwGa:

Transl.: This door of St. Sargis was built by Mahtesy
Petrossian from Bargushat and his spouse Dniya
Hasratian in April 1821 in remembrance of St. Sargis
Church of Van...

3 (0-< [up wo BuLu, | py. U (1821) unyplzh U:
Transl.: Jesus of Nazareth, the King of the Jews.
Lord Jesus Christ. 1 April 1270 [1821].

TEHERAN

17 December 1959

Inscriptions carved inside the Armenian church of
Sts. Tadevos (Thaddeus) and Bardughimeos (Bartholo-
mew); epitaphs from the cemetery located in its yard,
and other commemorative texts

The sanctuary of the church of Sts. Thaddeus and
Bartholomew is adorned with a large (1 x 1.50 metres)
oil painting—I suppose the work of the court artist
Hakob Khan Hovnatanian also known as Naghash
Bashi—depicting the Holy Virgin on the throne, with
infant Jesus in Her arms. On Her right side, Thaddeus
the Apostle stands, holding a handkerchief on which
Jesus’ head is painted. On Her left side, Bartholomew
the Apostle stands, holding a painting of Her in his
hand. Two angels with outstretched wings hold a crown
above the Virgin’s head, and above them the Holy
Spirit is descending incarnated as a dove, with God the
Father seen amidst the clouds. The painting frame was
a very beautiful work of art made in great taste.

The bema of the church was beautifully built, with
a stepped altar stone.

The following six-line inscription was carved
beneath the oil painting of the sanctuary:

<puwpwlbmn wju up. Lhbknbkgh Junnig hhdGbgby
h Guwfultig whnh h dp. wjpugqbiug h Mupuljuu-
wnwGh “Fohpwl nstighwy h Gnjli pwnuph, w-
Gmuwdp lunnighs' upppnjli (Cwnp.” b pupbluou
Uy huwyngpu wqqh. tunnnuwl quuunybpu wmbpni-
Guwlhwlh jwlnilG up. Uowolwy jiq ubnuih: Uwp-
pudtil mnhd k Gpuytun jupgh wyppl pupbujuym
wqlht uppbh. b upupungh Ghpububw japh, Mbn-
nu winm G wqlnuuqupdh: Unpw GpynphG dh pnils
uh hngh" ywnbwy up. hnqiny jpghl qlind upnh wiG-
ohlip hwijtih h dbpwqlp., np Qugbw) wpdwG h up.
wnwdwnph’ jnp dhpn hwlwwwq wnweh Gnpbl’ ju-
umwiph wwpwmold h wmbu wuliGh, hwlgk nkp pwdhl
hipny wlgbing wplpwwmnmpml jhipbwlpu GGGhH,
hwqup mp hwppmip pht thplpwluih pwnwuntli L
hGa (1849), h ybg jniGhuh, qihpwunul unghl jupmau-
wmbLbiugh’ dhGsl h qupunbwl mnl 3uf:

Transl.: This magnificent, sacred church was found-
ed by the [Armenians’] ancestors amidst foreigners in
the city of Dehran [Teheran] in Persia after ... St. Tade
[Thaddeus], the protector of the Armenian nation. The
[oil] painting of the Holy Virgin is a gift from
respectable Karapet from the Sarrafians’ family, a
noble and pious man loved by everyone, and from
noble Petros Nersessian from Gharabagh [Artsakh]. ...
May You, Lord, grant them longevity ... on 6 June
eighteen forty-nine (1849). May their memory be per-
petual until the Advent of Lord Jesus.

One of the church walls bore a very old oil painting
of the Holy Virgin (34 x 27 metres) enclosed within a
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narrow, black frame. Winged angels were painted in its
four corners, with a yerkatagir'® inscription of a single
line beneath the painting:

Bhpwnwly t UhdnGhu nh Owpknuf: Guh: Uwpph
i bunuiph (wlpmwlpi):

Transl.: In memory of Simon di Tatevos ... Sabr and
Naghash [undated - H.A.].

Another painting donated to the church had the fol-
lowing inscription:
Shpwwnwly 1959 pihG Upmubtwl L Cwnknu (Ow-
ntnubwGhg Unipp Ownknuhl wnwpbwg GhbntgmG:
Transl.: 1959. To the church of St. Tadevos
[Thaddeus] the Apostle from Arusyak and Tadevos
Tadevossian.

Epitaphs carved on the tombstones located in the
yard of Teheran’s Armenian church of Sts. Thaddeus
and Bartholomew

Carved on a marble stone the edges of which are adorned with a
floral relief:

b 11 Gnjbdptp 1854,

b hwuwlh 18 wdung 18 opbuwy,

Uppwjnipl wpdwhu,

[onj mnip dwllpulg quy wn hu

<nqumjn UGGw Nmpnubwd,

Buwguwfubiginy Lhpububd,

Gpp nkp qpbq hpunppk

Buwnuiliipmy oplwd,

Onn wuwn wpdhln hwlghgt,

Gip pnj qpn olinnug uppunu h juyho

Gur hwiwly wy) plq jbgh,

MNupowwg fuwnunniphil jhywumul:

Transl.: You departed to the Heavenly Kingdom on 11
November 1854, aged 18 months and 18 days. ... Anna
Petrossian Nersessian from Artsakh ... May your body
rest here. Your departure imbued your parents’ hearts
with grief and mourning...

Sacred

To the memory of Rosina Regina
the daughter of R:W:Stevens Eso
H.B.M. Consul, at Tehran.

On a broken marble stone:

Uju b nmwwwl wyuwupugh Uik npnh Nuothhd,
np thnfubigwt wn 18 ... bl ...:

Transl.: In this grave lies Usop, the son of Manvel
from Basra, who departed this life on 18 December...

On a marble stone adorned with reliefs showing
carpenter’s tools:

10 Yerkatagir is the oldest type of the Mashtots-invented Armenian
script consisting of only majuscules or capital letters. It was
widely used in lapidary inscriptions which were carved with an
iron pole; hence the name yerkatagir: yerkat is the Armenian
equivalent for iron.

Ujyu E mwwyw (G inkp lowsunnph npnh pwgwhinin
wphbivwinp pGnphop 1h 9phqnph, np thnfubigun
wuwmp jipghGu pyht 1832 ubupnbupbph 17-hG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Father Khachatur’s son,
skillful craftsman Grigor, who departed this life on 17
September 1832.

Swwwl Uypnmd Udhpbwl nuiyphdbgh: duw-
JbplG wpfuwphhG L Jppumpl b GUhG puinh qunow nu
LbGwg h wlnju, np wwn h jipgph widwnwlq §hgh
Jniuwd wlnhGhG h dwnwlqly qbpyhG: 1831 wih
Jnihu 7:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mkrtum Amirian from
Tabriz. ... 7 July 1831.

Uuwn hwligsh hlgihu Quyh Uwhwp, judh mbwnd
1833p6 Gufuwy 3-hG (gnighu 3):

Transl.: In this grave lies Chali Sahab, an
Englishman, [who died] on 3 ... July 1833.

Swwwl hwlgmgbw; Upqup QupuwwbmbwGh,
hwliqtwt h wmkp 1857 jnijhu 5:

Transl.: In this grave lies Abgar Karapetian, who
died on 5 July 1857.

b nmwwwihu wdthmhh JwpdhlG ownljuhphp
dwywli Uwpqupnp lvwshybwd, b 1852 h 2 jnijhu:

Transl.: In this grave lie the remains of little girl
Margarit Khachikian, [who died a premature death] on
2 July 1852.

Uju t mwwyulG Uwpqupinh lonunumnbwd, np
hwlqbuwn h ukp 1833 ognuwn. 2-pl:

Transl.: In this grave lies Margarit Khodadatian,
who died on 2 August 1833 .

Uju F muwwuwl onunuin Qujuumwbh nniunp
UlGwnphl, np hwlqbwr h dkp h dh wd hwuwlh G p
1848 tdwhu 1-pG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Khodadat Galstan’s daugh-
ter Anar, who died being just a year old, on 1 May
1848.

Swwwl hwlgnigbhw; Uwwmptnu Ubputubiwd,
oty 1825 dwijhu 4, ywudwGbwy 1875 dwmn 17:

Transl.: In this grave lies Matevos Nersessian: born
on 4 May 1825, he died on 17 March 1875.

Uju E mwwywl dwhwmbuh Monnuh npnh Ownkn-
uhl, np thnfubgun wpyfuwnph YbphlG h pyhlG 1846 Gn-
Jbupbp wduh 1-hG:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mahtesy Poghos’ son
Tadevos, who departed this life on 1 November 1846.

Uunn hwlqsh Utihp CwhlGwqunp Opplitwd,
hwliqtwy 1855 wuwyppy 30:
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Transl.: In this grave lies Melik Shahnazar Orbelian,
who died on 30 April 1855.

b hwlquinbwl wuwm wdthnihh qnh wuwipnl Cwh-
Guqup Uwpqup’ Judwnwlwl ndl h Gnp gniquijbi-
gh, whnuwu(, guiop, wuwlinnifuin tnbwy, thnjuligu
| nuuu thplshl judh mbwnd 1846 h wdutiwl jnigh-
uh 21:

Transl.: In this grave lie the remains of Mr.
Shahnazar Sargis, a merchant from Nor [New] Jugha,
who unfortunately died away from home on 21 July
1846.

Swwwl h wmkp hwlgnmgbwy miuhgh Unwpbh
dhnuph Swinphl Uwumdbwlg nupupwnging, np i
1846, h 22 jmjhup:

b Gtun vwunluwqhl nninlG ophwuhl, np dfubwyl
h dwlwn, Juihp dwupwuwuhl(”), hwpbwy nidqGuuytu
ppquli(®) hd wadhG, wilwr h unuupwun h hnn nfu-
pwqhl:

Uwiphl hd nuybpp tphnmwuwpnulpul juju unw-
wwl dphl, h Ybp wldGuiuwl Jupow L thuhwl
gpny duypwlul i quply b wbuny Gnpwjp ww-
mnuwljul:

Qbnt tu dwdwl jUpgwfu hwjjuwlpul h gullw-
1hG hd, jepyhp hwjpwlpul qpitw; hwnwsdwdp jn-
qnj YhGuwlwG: boh wuwn h hnn, vk wuwlnhnnw-
Jud:

Uwunpbd, wlgunnpp, pln hu ...pG hwjgbiny hGa
dnin h jpllhg funpuwG, jhptughp, h hnn E dbp hw-
qunul, huly mm G wpfuwphhu hngng ybp nuipwdl:

Transl.: In this grave lies Mahtesy Arakel Hakob
Masumiants of blessed memory from Karabakh
[Artsakh]. [He died] on 22 July 1846....

My young body has become prey to this dark grave
... unable to see my respectable brother.

I was unable to visit the Armenian [land] of
Artsakh, the much loved country of my father ... [and]
was put into this grave as a wandering traveller.

May you, passers-by, ... pray for me to enter the
Heavenly Sanctuary...

Swwwl YJuwnuwitnhl Quwmnium MNuwwwjbwlig
nwyphdbginj, wlqhmwygwpwn dwhwpbp qlnuw-
UhG, 14 thbgmjwp 1904pG h hwuwlh 27 widwg, h
[Othpud:

Transl.: In this grave lies Galust Papayants from
Tabriz, who died a premature death falling victim to a
lethal bullet at the age of 27 in Teheran on 14 February
1904.

Bukropy HpanoBudy MakapoBy

ckoHY. 3 ¢pe. 1864.

Transl.: To Victor Ivanovich Makarov, who died on 3
February 1864.

Updwl Gnpuwyuwly OLynbuy

Omlwubwd, oGuwi..., hwlqbwy 1878 8 ognuun.:

Transl.: In memory of newly-married Tekghea
Ghukassian: born ..., she died on 8 August 1878.

Swwyw i dtowpbih Uwpwmppnuph UnyjuhubwlG
hwdwnulging, h 40 wdwg hwuwh hwlqbwa j2 jni-
1hup 1864:

Transl.: In this grave lies venerable Martiros
Movsissian from Hamadan, who died at the age of 40
on 2 July 1864.

Swwwl mphihl Uwppuwyh “Funppluwlbwl wp-
pnilh pdruybnpl, np hwlqbw h 26 ognu. 1893:

G1 npinyG Uwppth Unnndnd fuwGh,

UppniGuww b tppugunhhd, np 53 widwg hwuw-
Lih quuuitigu h yhbwg tp 10 hnlpn. 1895:

Gunuwylp Gwlwr wuwybmmphG dto pdhply ...
pwquinpuljul:

Transl.: In this grave lie Mrs. Sarra Davitkhanian,
the chief royal doctor who died on 26 August 1893, and
her son, Sartip Soghomon Khan, the royal geometri-
cian who died at the age of 53 on 10 October 1895. ...
a great royal doctor...
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THE DEATH MARCH OF AGHJAGUNEY ARMENIANS

by Hovhannes Gyulian

This story was written down by my maternal grand-
father Hovhannes Gyulian. He describes the death
march of his family during the deportation of the
Armenians of Aghjaguney, his native village.

Nune Grigorianl

Hovhannes Gyulian was born in the village of
Aghjaguney on 1 May 1874.2 He had a cheerful child-
hood enjoying the warmth and tenderness of his moth-
er Vardine, his father Hambardzum and his grandfather
Sargis. However, even in this atmosphere of joyous-
ness, despite his young age, he always felt the danger
threatening his father’s life. The little boy often became
witness to the persecutions the Armenian peasants had
to suffer in the Turks’ hands. When already of school
age, Hovhannes started attending the village school,
but he was not very fond of studying and did not get
proper education unlike his brother Harutiun, who dis-
tinguished himself as an excellent pupil. Harutiun
received further education in America, where he spe-
cialised in the legal profession. He later returned to his
birthplace and soon became one of the best jurists in
the region. As for Hovhannes, he worked in tobacco
fields from his early youth years, being the main bread-
winner of their family.

In 1914 20-year-old Hovhannes married Iskuhi and
formed a family. Their happiness, however, was not to
last long: World War I broke out soon. The order fixed
on the local church wall stated that all men aged from
17 to 70 had to present themselves to the Military
Commissariat within 8 days. Those trying to escape
military service would face the tribunal. In September
1914 the young men of Aghjaguney went to the Com-
missariat in Charshamba under the village head’s lead-
ership. Husein Effendi, a classmate of Hovhannes’
brother, succeeded in delaying the military service of
Aghjaguney Armenians for a month. Then the village
head again led the boys to the Commissariat. Their fel-
low villagers accompanied them up to the outskirts of
the village. Embracing her son, Hovhannes’ mother

—_

This story is based on Hovhannes Gyulian’s memoirs, which are
written in a handwriting rather difficult to make out; for this rea-
son, there may be certain inaccuracies connected with some
events and names, for which I beg the reader’s pardon.
2 Aghjaguney is situated 12.3 km south-west of the town of Char-
shamba, the capital of the district of the same name in Trabzon
Province, Turkey. The village name has not changed.

said in tears, “I wish Husein Effendi gave you another
month.”

The young men of Aghjaguney were sent from
Charshamba to Sebastia. Hovhannes’ mother had given
him 100 kuruses [a monetary unit], which he handed
over to the disabled and beggars he came across on the
way. The group stopped in Kavza to have some rest. It
was here that Hovhannes saw lavash [traditional
Armenian bread] for the first time in his life: coastal
villages and cities did not have fonirs [underground
ovens] and used a type of bread called zayin. The own-
ers of the mills and factories built on the river bank
were Armenians who willingly hosted the Armenian
recruits.

In the morning, the group set out. Pursuing their
way along the course of the Green Channel (Yershil
Ermakh) for two days, they reached Amasia and thence
Tocat, Zile and Sebastia. After a month of military
training, the young men of Aghjaguney were sent to the
front, to Sarighamish. The road to this place extended
via a number of Armenian villages and towns, one of
the former being Kovtun, the birthplace of the out-
standing hayduk leader Sebastatsy Murad. Leaving
Svaz behind them, the young men reached Yerznka,
and after a military training check-out, they were
assigned to the 9th brigade of Sarighamish.

The way to Sarighamish passed via Erzrum. Before
getting there, Hovhannes had not faced any difficulty
and had not felt any death threat, but in Erzrum, he
became witness to horrific scenes and started having a
foreboding of the danger threatening the Armenians. Ev-
erywhere he saw houses that had tumbled down during
bombardment. The snowstorm and severe cold impeded
the group’s advance and they somehow found a night
shelter in a Turkish village. Six of the group members
had lost their way, and 20 were badly ill and stayed in
that village. The other members of the group continued
their way to Basen, where they were herded into a cara-
vanserai like animals and were locked there. They could
neither remain standing nor lie down, many of them
being so cold-stricken that they could not even talk.

At last on 23 December 1914, the group reached
Plalati and joined the 9th brigade: 500 young men had
set out of Erzrum, but only 200 reached their destina-
tion. Now the young men of Aghjaguney were assigned
to different military units, Hovhannes, Galust and
Husein being in the same one. The soldiers were in a
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terrible state: there being nothing to eat, they had to
single out the barley grains from the horse dung to
somehow satisfy their hunger.

Sarighamish, which was defended by Baratov’s
small forces, resisted heroically until the morning of 24
December 1914, when the Germans ordered to bom-
bard it from all directions. The town surrendered to the
Turks: 200 Russian soldiers were taken captive and
slaughtered before they reached Erzrum.

With an aching heart, Hovhannes witnessed the
deplorable state of the Armenian villages around
Sarighamish. The aged men, women and young boys
who were only 15 carried the very last portions of food
on their backs in the bitter cold of the severe winter, to
pass them to the Turkish askyars [soldiers]. It was
Enver Pasha’s order: “I do not need any villagers; I
need only troops.”

Entering a house with his friend, Hovhannes
became witness to a dismal scene: all the members of
the family had died and there was nobody to bury
them. An old man asked them for their dead horses and
donkeys for the surviving people to eat them.

About three days later, some Turkish bandits laid
siege to Sarighamish, this giving rise to worry and
panic amidst the German and Turkish commanders. All
of a sudden, some Russian troops came out of a nearby
forest and started fiercely slaughtering the Turkish ban-
dits. Seeing the advance of the Russian army, the Tur-
kish soldiers took to their heels. Hovhannes’ Turkish
friends advised him not to run away, saying: “You are
Armenian. The Russians won’t kill you.”

Hovhannes, however, thought that he had better run
away with his Turkish friends: the Russians might kill
him before he managed to tell them who he was.
Holding one another’s hand, they threw themselves
into the nearby gorge and, wallowing in the snow, soon
found themselves at its very bottom.

The night darkness and cold were horrible. If the
men slept down, they would certainly freeze to death.
They somehow spent the night hours and continued
their way as soon as the sun rose. Throughout the way,
they came across wounded men and fleeing soldiers.
Hardly had they found some shelter in a Turkish village
when they learnt that the Russian army was advancing.
They again took to their heels and somehow got to
Ketek on 12 January 1915. They asked the local peas-
ants for some shelter, but the latter were scared of the
Russians’ advance, too and wanted to run away.

Hovhannes and the surviving Turkish soldiers
reached Erzrum and went to the Commissariat. They
were given military identification cards with permit to
be on leave for some time. On their way to Samsun,
they were repeatedly attacked by Turkish bandits and
escaped death only thanks to the fact that they were
armed. Hovhannes handed his arms over to the

Military Commissariat of Aghjaguney and went home.
He had been walking for 28 days to reach Aghjaguney
from Sarighamish: he was emaciated and could hardly
drag his feet. All in tears and anguish-stricken, Vardine
hugged her son. Hovhannes and Iskuhi’s first son had
been born during his absence: he had been named after
grandfather Sargis and was already a month old.

Five days later, all the young men of Aghjaguney
were again summoned up to the Central Military
Commissariat in Charshamba. Then, to their surprise,
they were sent to the front in the direction of Terme and
not Samsun. It took the group of 1,200 men three days
to reach from Terme to Nixar, 400 of them being killed
on the way. Many of the Turks preferred to run away
and become bandits instead of being killed by the
Russians. On 22 March Hovhannes and his fellow
recruits reached the Armenian village of Purk and were
temporarily accommodated there to undergo some mil-
itary training. Afterwards, they had to go to Ketek to
fight against the Russians. The young men of
Aghjaguney, who had decided to stay together in the
same detachment, bribed the Turkish servicemen with
the tobacco of Samsun. The Armenian peasants of Purk
warmly received the young men, willingly hosting and
feeding them. A week later, the village head was
ordered to arrange the delivery of wheat to Yerznka by
the local women. Each of the 200 women of the village
had to carry a large sack of wheat, weighing a pood, to
Yerznka on her back (they returned in 8 days).

The Armenians of Purk were in a dreadful state. To
force the men to give up their weapons, the Turks
imprisoned them and subjected them to unspeakable
torture, leaving them without water or a piece of bread.
How could they obey this order if they had no weapons
at all? During the search, only several rifles and pistols
were found, nothing else. The local women often told
Hovhannes in tears that they did not know what would
become of them: they had absolutely nothing, having
given up everything to the Turks. Hovhannes tried to
somehow comfort these poor women. The Turkish sol-
diers were asked if their own villages were subjected to
the same atrocities, and the answer was negative.

Late on Easter evening, all the Christian soldiers
were disarmed. That night seemed to be endless: every-
body was horrified thinking that they could be killed at
any moment.

As soon as the sun rose, the recruits were taken to
the centurion. With a fake and flattering smile and a
pretended politeness typical of the Turks, he attempted
to convince them that he would willingly go to the bat-
tlefield with the Armenians, but the commander of the
military unit had to disarm them and send them to
Susheher, taking into account their high road-building
skills (even ten Turks could not do the job of an
Armenian in this work).
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The Armenian recruits from different places were
gathered together to be sent to Sansar Tepesi.
Everybody realised that they were being sent to die...
Sargis and a Greek named Levter ... were sent to work
in a hospital; to be more exact, to bury the dead. At that
time, a fierce epidemic was raging in the village, but it
was impossible to understand whether it was plague or
typhus. There was no hope for survival. One day, while
washing at the fountain, Hovhannes felt that he had
been infected, too. The remedies prepared by Levter
cured him and he regained consciousness 9 days later.
He owed his recovery to his friends. When learning
about his disease—something he was trying to con-
ceal—Chavush got angry with him and immediately
took him to hospital. His friends visited him every day.
Hovhannes had sent a telegram to his brother and won-
dered why he had not answered yet: knowing his broth-
er very well, he was sure that he would not be late with
the reply.

Three days later, the medical attendant on duty
entered the ward and loudly read Hovhannes’ name and
surname. Opening his eyes, he saw the prison warden
of Samsun, Osman Effendi. Consulting the doctors, the
latter decided to send Hovhannes and his friends on
leave for three months. Osman Effendi was a close
friend of Hovhannes’ brother Harutiun, who always
sent him some tobacco and a red cow every year.

Obeying the doctors’ order, the hospital attendants
helped Hovhannes go to the yard and sit under a tree. It
was here that he saw his fellow villager Yorika, a
Greek, and his younger son. They had been given per-
mit for leave like him. They were in a dismal state and
could hardly get home alive. What had become of that
courteous man of good manners! Two days before,
Hovhannes had seen his wife’s sister’s husband in the
same state and had given him money to go home, but
he could hardly survive.

Taking their military identification cards from
Osman Effendi, Hovhannes and his friends set out for
Kerasun. The Effendi told them that he had paid the
fare and had telegraphed his wife Nejie Khanum in
Samsun to receive them. In order to change horses, the
group had a stop in the caravanserai of Havuz. In the
morning, they saw tens of dead bodies in the yard of
the caravanserai the owner of which told them that they
could witness the same scene every day. “Even if they
don’t die here, anyway, only 10 percent of these people
get home. The opposite earthen hillocks marked their
graves, separated from the village cemetery.

The next stop was in Shapin Garahisar. During the
deportation and massacres of the local population, 150
young men fortified themselves in the fortress and
resisted the Turks for six months. Later they had to sur-
render, but as soon as they descended from the fortress,
they opened fire against the Turks. Some of them were

killed, while the others were able to escape through the
mountains, crossed the border and settled down in
Ajaria.

After some four days’ rest in the town of Kerasun,
Hovhannes and his friends set out for Samsun by boats.
In the town of Iyne, their boatman changed, and the
newly-arrived one demanded payment. The young men
were surprised as they knew that their fare had been
paid. Putting his hand onto his weapon, the ferryman
threatened to throw all of them into the sea if they did
not give him the money. To escape the danger, the
young men had to give him their last 150 kuruses.
When they got off in Samsun, the gendarmes checking
their documents wanted to take them to the military
commissariat as they were in a good health condition.
In order to get rid of them, the young men gave them
their last scraps of tobacco and went to Osman
Effendi’s place. Osman’s wife told Hovhannes that she
had informed his brother about her husband’s telegram.
The following morning the young men thanked Nejie
Khanum for her hospitality and set out for Aghjaguney.

The family members and relatives of all the so-
called recruits (because the Turks were simply going to
use them as workforce in the construction of roads,
railways, etc., after which they were going to be exter-
minated) had gathered on the outskirts of the village,
eager to get some news from their dear ones. Among
them were Hovhannes’ mother Vardine and his sisters.
Hardly had he dismounted when the people surround-
ed him from four sides and started asking questions.
Hovhannes, however, was completely emaciated so
that his mother and brother asked them to wait a little
until he had had some rest. The following morning not
only the locals but also the inhabitants of the nearby
villages started visiting him: everyone wanted to hear
something about their dear ones, but what could
Hovhannes tell them? Indeed, he urged them not to
worry and be hopeful, but he knew very well that some
of the “recruits” were no longer alive, while others
were fatally ill and would never get home alive. But for
his friends, particularly Levter, he himself would be
lying dead somewhere on the roads.

One day Hovhannes was walking in their fields that
were close to the village church. Suddenly he saw his
brother who reproached him for having left the house:
once the Turkish gendermes saw him in good health
again, they would certainly summon him back, while
Harutiun was attempting to prolong his leave. Besides,
what was the point in supervising the ploughmen when
the entire world was in such a chaotic state and they did
not know whether they would be able to preserve all
their lands or not?

One day, when Hovhannes was returning home
through the village gardens after a visit to his brother-
in-law, some gendarmes standing at their house saw
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him and immediately took him to Hajji Kamil’s house.
Harutiun hurried there and bribed the gendarmes with
Hajji Kamil’s help, taking Hovhannes back home. The
latter’s son was already 8 months old.

sesksk

On 2 May 1915, the Turkish neighbours of the
Armenians of Aghjaguney told them about the impend-
ing massacres planned by the Government. Learning
that the outstanding, influential Armenians of Char-
shamba had been imprisoned, the young girls and boys
of Aghjaguney, including Hovhannes, took up arms and
climbed the nearby mountains at night. Only the aged
stayed in the village. The following day, on 3 May, the
jailed Armenians of Charshamba were set free, and the
rumour spread that massacres were planned in Van,
Bitlis and Mush. For exactly a month and a half, the eld-
erly people of Aghjaguney tried to persuade the young
men and girls to return to the village. They, however,
did not agree as they did not believe in the fake promis-
es of the Turkish Government: it was customary for the
Turks to lull the Armenians into a false sense of safety
and then carry out their evil plans.

Part of the Armenians of the region were gathered
in Charshamba and forced into converting to Islam.
They pretended to obey, thinking that they could
deceive the Turks. Hajji Zekir Bey, a Circassian who
was much respected among the Armenians, was well-
aware of the Turkish plans of exterminating the
Armenians. A good friend of the Gyulians, he was
eager to somehow help them. The Governor of Samsun
was Circassian, too and he hoped that they could find a
way out together. One day Hajji Zekir Bey came to
Aghjaguney and told the locals about their planned
deportation. The Governor of Samsun and he had
decided to shelter the Armenians of Aghjaguney in his
village. However, soon the Governor got a telegram
which said: “Stop taking bribes from the Armenians
and protecting them. You should now start deporting
them.”

Hajji Zekir, who was with the Governor at that time,
read the telegram, too. They had been able to delay the
deportation from 2 May until 7 June. Now they could
do absolutely nothing.

Immediately after receiving the telegram, the
Turkish gendarmes surrounded Aghjaguney. The
Gyulians were forced to leave their house like the rest
of the locals, taking only two carts and a horse.
Trapizon (Trabzon) having been occupied by the
Russians, the local Turks had moved to Aghjaguney.
Hardly had Hovhannes left his house when he noticed
two Turks quarrelling over it, quarrelling over the
house that his grandfather Sargis and his father
Hambardzum had built with the sweat of their brow.
How could that be true? Was it an irony of fate? Later

Hovhannes learnt that the Turks had eventually burnt
down the house so as nobody would own it.

The deported Armenians were gathered together
near the village bridge. Almost all the young men were
at the front, the remaining ones forming only five per-
cent of the entire population. They thought of running
away, but how could they abandon the women, chil-
dren and the aged? Hovhannes blamed the elderly peo-
ple of the village for again believing the Turkish
authorities and calling them back from the mountains.
They had taken up arms to struggle against the Turks
and had even chosen a leader, Kehoghli (Kehian) Ha-
kob, whose cleverness and courage did not at all make
him inferior to Hovhannes Minassian (Minasoghli).
Struggling heroically and dying while fighting would
have been far better than being slaughtered like ani-
mals with the Turkish yataghan.

When the caravan of deportees was passing through
the village of Hajji Zekir, his brother and son deliber-
ately invited the gendarmes to their place to take some
rest for the Gyulians to find a shelter in their yard.
Zekir Bey’s sons secretly approached Hovhannes and
Harutiun and advised them to load their buggage slow-
ly to win time until their father returned from Samsun
and made the gendarmes leave the place. The Bey’s
brother even suggested that Harutiun should hide in
their house until some way out was found, but he did
not agree: he could not leave his family alone. And so
he stayed with the caravan of his compatriots who were
doomed to walk and walk in an unknown direction to
an unknown destination...

Hajji Zekir was being late. The women kept pray-
ing for his quick return, and his family did their best to
keep the gendarmes in the house as long as possible,
but in the end, the deportees were made to continue
their way towards Merkez. From this place, they were
driven to Charshamba, being then sent to unknown
destinations.

When Hajji Zekir came at last and saw his friends
among the refugees, he started crying and said: “I
should have come before the prayer ended. I could have
hidden you in my house, but now I can do nothing.”

Anyway, this man had done everything within his
power for a month and a half, putting his own life at
risk, and Hovhannes’ family was grateful to him. He
could save even more Armenians if some mean Turkish
beys who had once enjoyed the Armenians’ hospitality
and patronage did not betray him. Talaat Pasha sent a
telegram to him and the Governor of Samsun, saying
that they should stop taking bribes from the Armenians
and protecting them; the Armenians had to be deported
within 24 hours. Zekir Bey and the Governor were
powerless to do anything.

The caravan in which Hovhannes was with his fam-
ily and relatives had to move on. The young men,
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including Hovhannes and Harutiun, were separated
from the rest of the deportees to join the Turkish army.
The women, children and the aged were left absolutely
alone, with nobody to defend them. Now the women
had to harness the oxen to the carts themselves.

The gendarmes locked the young men in an
armoury. Harutiun and four other men who had docu-
ments exempting them from military service applied to
the Military Commissariat with protests: why on earth
had they been given those papers if nobody was going
to take them into account? The Commissariat promised
to inquire into the matter and find out everything. An
hour later, a response came from Samsun stating that
those exempted from service had to rejoin the caravan
of refugees. Harutiun and Hovhannes embraced each
other: they realised that they were not going to see one
another again. The former gave some money to the lat-
ter in case he managed to run away. Then Hovhannes’
sisters tried to approach him to say good-bye to him,
but one of the gendarmes pushed Mariam so brutally
that her children who were in her arms fell down. What
could Hovhannes do? Stifling his emotions, he some-
how said: “Dear Manik, sister, don’t come up. Don’t
you see they are beasts? This time I’ll return with your
husband Esteban. Please, don’t cry.”

Hardly had he stopped talking when the gendarmes
brutally drove the caravan away. The farther the
refugees moved, the smaller they became until they
completely vanished from sight. This was the last time
Hovhannes had seen his dear ones.

The young men were forced to convert to Islam.
They pretended to obey, but every day they secretly
prayed in Armenian. From Merkez 2,200 men were
moved to Charshamba and then to Samsun. On the way
the Turks assured them that they would join their
deported families after the war.

The caravans of deported Armenians, surrounded
by gendarmes from four sides, stopped in the vicinity
of Samsun. One of the women had just given birth to
twin boys. Hovhannes’ ears were pierced by the heart-
rending words of an aged woman: “Damned wretches,
when home, you didn’t deliver a single baby, while
now, when you’re just miserable refugees, you’re giv-
ing birth to twins. We don’t need boys now. Go and
throw them into the sea. You don’t know: you will be
forced to get rid of your other children, too.”

And these horrifying scenes were in the vicinity of
Samsun... What awaited the refugees was no less terri-
fying than the true inferno.

The Russian army started bombarding Samsun. The
oil depot and other state buildings were burnt away.
This infuriated the Turks even further and they began
attacking the Armenians fiercely, mocking at them and
saying: “Your uncle is coming to help you.” Not only
Turkey but also the great powers of the world, Germa-

ny, Russia, England and France, were enemies of the
Armenians.

Everybody ran away from Samsun to escape Rus-
sian bombardment. The fields near an adjacent Greek
village were soon overcrowded with caravans of Ar-
menians from different places, including the one where
Hovhannes was. The Turks were waiting for additional
forces to drive the Armenians farther. Here Hovhannes
came across Agha Nshan Garejemian. This man
reminded the Armenians around him about what he had
said during Hovhannes Minassian’s funeral: “Killing
Minassian, they lifted their hands against the entire
Armenian nation. If he were alive now, he would set up
self-defence, saving many, many Armenians from cer-
tain death. Now all of us are going to be slaughtered.”

At 9 o’clock in the evening the Turks received addi-
tional forces. Hovhannes and his friends decided to run
away: they could be either caught or killed, but if they
managed to reach Aghjaguney and find the arms they
had hidden, they might be able to organise self-
defence. At 2 a.m. they fled. If they were lucky enough
to get to the village safe and sound, they would reach
their goal. However, they were caught halfway: all the
village heads had been informed about their escape.
They had to bypass only a single Turkish village to
reach Aghjaguney, but they were encircled right there,
being surrendered to the gendarmes with the help of the
local Turks. Some of the runaways were shot to death,
while others were moved to Merkez as captives and put
into the hands of some bandits. Hovhannes and his
friends were brutally tortured and then driven on like
animals. When the gendarmes sat down for rest, they
started checking their arms, using the Armenians as tar-
gets and killing four or five of them. The Turks
“amused” themselves in this way until reaching
Samsun and left behind them some 30 or 40 corpses.
After Samsun had been passed, those falling behind
were first trampled with hooves, then shot in the head
and left dead on the road. Those daring to say that they
were exhausted, wanted some rest or water shared this
fate. While having some rest, the gendarmes demand-
ed that the Armenians give them 2,000 kuruses.
Although the surviving young men could barely drag
their feet, they were made to walk fast. Those who had
lagged behind the caravans ahead lay all along the
roadside, having lost consciousness because of the
heat. Those still able to talk asked for water, but alas,
the young men could not help them. What was most
dreadful, the children, whether alive or not, lay on their
killed mothers, with crows flying over their heads.

Hovhannes walked in the middle of the caravan to
escape being killed. Before setting out, his brother had
given opium to all their family members to drink it, if
needed, and die easily. But life is precious. Thanks to
his steadfastness and will power, Hovhannes was able
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to overcome unspeakable privations and hardships, un-
willing to take the opium.

Hovhannes and Harutiun kept in touch despite their
being in different caravans. The latter sometimes suc-
ceeded in bribing the gendarmes and sending some
news to his brother. For the last time, Hovhannes heard
from his family when Harutiun wrote to him about
their sister Iskuhi’s cruel death. The emaciated girl
fainted, but the heartless gendarmes did not allow her
family to help her. Moreover, they brutally hit her to
death with bayonets. “Our sister died before my very
eyes and I was absolutely unable to do anything,” Ha-
rutiun wrote...

At last, five days later, Hovhannes and his fellow
villagers reached Amasia. From their group of 2,400,
162 had survived the excruciating “journey.” They
were herded into a mosque and checked one by one. A
cup of water was sold at 5 kuruses, while a piece of
bread cost a mejitie. At night all the young men were
sent to prison, a small room with conditions very far
from being suitable for human presence. There were
165 people herded together there, those sitting on the
floor being in the worst condition as each of them had
to bear another prisoner on his shoulders. There was no
space. The prisoners kept changing places until the sun
rose. Hovhannes was sitting on the window-sill togeth-
er with two of his fellow villagers, the doctor and head
of Aghjaguney (the latter was his mother’s cousin).
There was nobody sitting on their shoulders. No one
was allowed to go out, even for the toilet. One could
just go mad in the smell of human excrement and urine.
While in the mosque, the young men had been severe-
ly beaten, in the aftermath of which, two of them died
in prison. They had covered the way hungry and thirsty
and were too emaciated to offer any resistance.

Husein Effendi, who happened to be in the prison
on some business, saw his fellow villagers there and
was worried as he knew that all of them were going to
be killed at 10 o’clock in the evening. It was impossi-
ble to approach the jail. A Turkish prisoner serving a
term of 101 years had opened a shop there and wanted
to make the Armenians buy some food. Anyway, they
were going to be killed, so why did they need any
money? Husein Effendi begged that blood-thirsty crim-
inal to arrange his meeting with Hovhannes: he just
wanted to say good-bye to him. He was allowed to see
Hovhannes, but he was so moved that he could not
utter a word. Hovhannes, who was in total despair, had
already reconciled himself to his fate: if his family had
perished, he was ready to share their fate.

As soon as the sun rose, the prisoners were over-
come with horror. They knew that they would soon be
killed. Then Husein Effendi came again and said the
following, without pausing for breath: “Congratula-
tions! I haven’t slept the whole night: we’ve been pray-

ing and God heard my entreaties. You’re free: today
Kurban Bayram is celebrated, and on that occasion, all
the Armenians are saved from murder.”

Husein advised his fellow villagers to apply to the
Governor of Amasia with a request to improve their
conditions.

After he left, the head of Aghjaguney told the young
men that they had been forgiven and asked them to col-
lect 10 gold coins for the prison warden. The young
men had sewn their gold coins onto their clothing so as
the gendarmes could not seize them. The village head
gave the money to the prison warden, who, in return for
this, arranged his meeting with the Governor. The peti-
tion of the Armenian prisoners was met and orders were
given to improve their conditions.

After returning, the head of Aghjaguney told his
friends about the reception he had been given by the
Governor. Hardly had a quarter of an hour passed when
a gendarme came and said that ten of the prisoners had
to go out. The Armenians looked at each other in hor-
ror, unwilling to obey the order: they thought they were
going to be killed. Hovhannes, who had served in the
army, knew that if they did not obey the order within 3
minutes, they would be forced to do so. He turned to
his uncle, the village head, and said: “I will be the first
to go. Let them first kill me.”

He was immediately followed by the others: ten
young men went to the prison yard and lined up there.
It turned out that they were going to the bakery to fetch
some sacks of bread. Then they were taken to the bath-
house, given some clothes that had been seized from
Armenians and told to burn away their old ones. When
they came back accompanied by the gendarme, they
were taken by surprise: three rooms had been cleaned
and cleared of the corpses for them. The rest of the
young men were sitting on the floor: they had had a
bath and changed their garments, too. The village head
gave all of them bread which they started eating with
great appetite.

Around 2 July 1915, Hovhannes and his friends were
taken to a construction site to work there. The masters
were all Armenians who had not been killed only thanks
to their being craftsmen. Then the young men were
taken to Amasia to empty the houses of 18,000 Ar-
menians who had been exterminated there. The scene
was heart-rending: it was evident that some people had
been killed right in bed; others while working or during
a meal, right at the table. Stifling their emotions, the
Armenians of Aghjaguney kept working. Their compa-
triots’ property was being taken out of their comfortable
houses and amassed in the church yard. Only the Lord
knows what fortune the gendarmes accumulated thanks
to the Armenians. During the evening break, all the
young Armenians were checked near the church door
and then given some bread and a piece of thal [also
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called ghavurma or khavurma, it is a homemade meat
preserve famous in the regions of Armenia].

The group was continually taken from one place to
another for work. One day they were taken to an aban-
doned Armenian house amidst some gardens located on
the way to Amasia. The young men repaired it, and the
authorities who came for checkup after the work was
over were pleased with them. Hovhannes heard one of
them saying to the other: “Our Government has com-
mitted something very bad. How can you kill your milch
cow and eat its meat?”

While in this place, the young men got acquainted
with Hamti Bey. During their break, they helped him
gather his fruits and put them in the baskets. As a sign of
gratitude, the bey gave them four baskets of fruits to sell
them and eke out their existence.

Every day various caravans of deportees passed
along the road. Seeing Hovhannes and his friends work-
ing, they were surprised and wondered how they had
been given that work. The young men did not tell any-
body that they had been set free only thanks to Kurban
Bayram and tried to give them hope that they would be
given work in some other place.

Once, in the morning, Hovhannes and the other
men of the group heard a child crying. They entered the
garden and started looking for him, finally finding a
two-year-old child: evidently, his parents had thrown
him there to save him at least in that way. The men kept
the child with them at night; in the morning they took
him to Amasia and put him in charge of a Greek
acquaintance.

Hamti Bey promised to help the young men when-
ever they had any problems. Once, one of Hovhannes’
friends committed a crime and was arrested. The men
went to Amasia, found Hamti Bey in a cafe and told
him what had happened. The bey promised to free their
friend. A judge who was sitting at the table with the bey
asked: “What nationality are these men”?

“They are Armenians,” Hamti Bey answered.

On hearing these words, the people sitting in the
cafe were taken by surprise and started looking at each
other, as if asking silently, “Are there still any surviv-
ing Armenians?”

In the evening the bey visited the young men
together with their friend who had been released.?

Soon there was an order that 60 people had to go
from Amasia to Vezil Kebri. Hovhannes and his friends
joined these people and went back. The road was cov-
ered with blackened corpses. The mayor of Vezil Kebri
had issued an order allowing the village heads to
choose 3 or 4 people and take them to their villages.
Now Hovhannes was with his uncle and the doctor of

3 Later five of these men managed to run away to Samsun, and
two of them, Hovhannes Atmajian and Sedrak Mumjian, were
lucky enough to move to Russia by ship.

Aghjaguney. On 8 August a gendarme took them to the
place of Hajji Bekir Agha in the village of Tanushi.
Coming from the threshing floor and learning that they
had been sent by the mayor, the Agha agreed to keep
them in his house.

In the autumn, when the threshing season was over,
Hajji Bekir went to the mountain pastures to graze his
livestock. The mayor accommodated Hovhannes and
his friends in Sivri Hovhannes’ splendid house. The
Turkish inhabitants of the village told them that the for-
mer owner of the house had been a musician who
always participated in all the remarkable events held in
the neighbourhood.

The village head employed Hovhannes and his
friends in his warehouses of flour which he had bought
from their former Armenian proprictors. The young
men had to arrange the transportation of the flour to the
mill. Soon no less than 100 loads of flour were ready
and the village head was very pleased with them. He
then asked them to count the sacks of ground flour in
the factory and arrange their conveyance to Samsun.
The young men were paid for this work. The mill, once
belonging to Nshan Shirinian, was leased by Osman
Effendi. According to him, Nshan Effendi’s wife had
converted to Islam and thus saved her life. She
demanded that Osman Effendi pay her recompense,
and the latter sent her 100 banknotes. It was not clear
whether Osman Effendi was telling the truth or lying,
but it was evident that Nshan Effendi had been a man
of great fortune. Opposite his three-floor mill, a 200-
hectare field extended, including 20 hectares planted
with mulberries for silkworm breeding. In addition,
there were 150 cows on his farm.

The head of Tebekey Village applied to the mayor
of Vezil Kebri for permission to move the Armenians to
his village, and the mayor gave his consent. Forty of
the sixty Armenians were in the village and twenty in
the city. It was the Armenians of the village who had
asked the head of Tebekey to re-unite them with their
friends. So, Hovhannes moved to Tebekey, which was
inhabited by Circassians. He started living in Nurin
Chaush’s house, and his uncle moved to Garbej Bey’s
place. The bey’s father-in-law, Shankeri Bey, some-
times visited him and put his horse under his uncle’s
watch. “Poor uncle! What has become of him,”
Hovhannes thought, but the Circassian did not allow
him to help his uncle with the horse.

The locals suggested that the Armenians convert to
their religion and marry their girls, thus establishing
their own households. There were absolutely no hopes
that they could see their families one day. It goes with-
out saying that the Armenians refused and forbade
them to talk about this again.

Zekia, Garbej Bey’s daughter, once invited Hov-
hannes to their place and confessed that she was in love
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with him. She even complained of his indifference. The
loving girl also unclosed some secret information for
Hovhannes: the Armenians of Samsun were struggling
against the Turks and had decided not to surrender at
all. Zekia promised to provide the young men with
arms and horses if they wished to join these Armen-
ians; they could reach Samsun at night.

In the evening Hovhannes told his friends about
Zekia’s proposal and it was approved.

While the young men were still in Tebekey, Hakob
Poladian died and was buried in this village. The priest
conducting the funeral service was Hovhannes’ wife
Iskuhi’s cousin (her uncle’s son). All his family had
perished during the deportation. He had married again
and had an adopted son and daughter.

Five of the members of the group had run away and
nothing was known about them. A caravanserai owner
who came to Tebekey for a short stay told the priest
that two of them, Shek Hovhannes and Harutiun, were
in Samsun. Allegedly, they had applied to the Military
Commissariat to find out how long they were going to
stay in Tebekey and had been told that they could be
sent to Samsun at any moment. Shek Hovhannes and
Harutiun had asked the caravanserai owner to advise
their friends to follow their example and move to
Samsun.

The priest told the young men about this and they
unfortunately believed in this disinformation. In
November they went to the Military Commissariat and
were registered there. They were promised to be sent to
Samsun, but on the same day, it was decided to send
them to Kavza to work on the central highway.

The night seemed endless. The young men did not
know what was predestined for them. As soon as the
sun rose, they were lined up and sent not to Samsun but
to Sebastia. The road was gloomy and excruciating.
The severe cold of winter could already be felt. The
young men were so emaciated and hunger- and cold-
stricken that they could barely drag their feet. The head
of Aghjaguney and the doctor simply wished they were
dead. Once they had to spend the night in a cara-
vanserai, next to animals. However, in their situation,
they were pleased even with these conditions: yes, they
were lying on the cold ground, but at least they were
indoors. Besides, they themselves were to blame for
their state.

The road continued to Amasia, Tocat and Sebastia,
the last stop being in Kochesar. The day following the
group’s arrival at Kochesar, they were taken to the vil-
lage of Avren. It was already December and they had to
build a road in the severe cold of winter. Every day
they faced the threat of certain death if they failed to
break and crush the fixed amount of stones. These were
the tombstones of an Armenian cemetery that the ex-
cruciated Armenians had to carry to the construction

site on carts to crush them into pebble. Many of them
were unable to endure the cold and hunger. There was
not enough bread.

Hovhannes worked in a group where everybody
was Armenian; only the centurion and chiliarch were
Turks. Both of them had adopted Armenian boys,
changed their names and married them to Turkish girls.
These boys helped Hovhannes a lot: they persuaded the
storekeeper who was an Armenian, too to increase the
Armenians’ daily ration of bread. One of these adopted
boys was Ruben Malian, who later immigrated to
Armenia from America.

One day part of the road still under construction
collapsed because of the tributary of the river Karmir
[Red] flowing there. It was announced that those who
would work in the water would get an increased daily
ration. However, only 3 of the 50 workers, Hovhannes,
Melkon and Hakob, dared to go into the water in that
freezing cold. The tumbled dam was being repaired
with the stones of the plundered and destroyed Armen-
ian houses. The cold was unbearable, but not for 20-
year-old Hovhannes: his young organism resisted it
successfully, while for his uncle, the village doctor and
priest this was a true trial. Seeing their state, Hovhan-
nes felt pity for them. Soon his uncle seriously fell ill
and could not move at all. Hovhannes took him to hos-
pital in Kochesar (the nurses of this hospital were cap-
tive Armenian women who had lived in a village close
to Kochesar before coming here, from 2 May 1915
until 10 February 1916). Hovhannes’ uncle died, but
the priest did not tell the young man about this, as he
knew that the man had been very dear to him and he
would be deeply upset. Before going to hospital, the
village head had tried to give the money he had, 13 pie-
ces of gold, to Hovhannes, but the latter had refused.

Hovhannes learnt about his uncle’s death from
Hekmet Bey. The bey also hinted that the gold had
been given to the priest, but at that moment money did
not matter to Hovhannes at all. He had lost his only sur-
viving relative. His lost family came before his eyes,
and for the first time during his odyssey, he broke into
tears and sat down on the ground, overwhelmed with
pain and sorrow.

Every month an American charitable organisation
allocated two pieces of gold to each of the surviving
Armenians.

Hovhannes was put in charge of a group of 20
Greeks to gather the alfalfa growing in the vicinity of
the Armenian villages around Tuzasar.

It was July 1916. The village was called Tuz (trans-
lated from Turkish as Salr) as there were salt mines
there. The young men decided to gather salt from the
nearby mountains and sell it at a cheap price to the
owners of the caravans passing through those places. In
this way, they started earning their everyday bread.



VARDZK N 11

25

Tuz used to be a large Armenian village. Once,
passing by the local school, Hovhannes heard two
women speaking Armenian. Truly, they were Ar-
menians who had come from Maghara to take care of
300 little Armenian children who had been Turkified
and were sheltered in the school house of Tuz (the men
of Maghara had been taken to the army, indeed, not as
soldiers but simply as workers). Hovhannes had heard
about Enver Pasha’s order not to kill Armenian chil-
dren but Turkify them.

When the young men returned to Kochesar, the
Greeks suggested that they should run away. Hovhannes
was against this as the nearby mountains teemed with
Turkish bandits and there would be no escape from
them. However, the Greeks insisted and Hovhannes had
to agree, although he did not trust them much. What
could he do? He was alone against them. The Greeks
who were from the villages around Samsun promised to
find a hiding-place for Hovhannes, but he had another
desire: he wanted to join the Armenians fighting in the
mountains of Samsun.

The group set out at night. They did not have a com-
pass, only the stars guiding them. They could not move
in broad daylight as they might be caught. The young
men found a hiding-place in a gorge, but they were soon
attacked by some Turkish bandits from the nearby
mountains (in fact, they were deserters). They were
robbed of their clothes and even of their last pieces of
bread. They were set free only because they told the
bandits that all of them were Greeks. If the group was
able to continue its way and reach Amasia, Hovhannes
could at least go to Tebekey, the Circassian village. But
this was impossible as the mountains teemed with
Turkish bandits and the roads with Turkish gendarmes
who would certainly check their documents. In the
daytime, the young men hid somewhere; they secretly
gathered barley from the nearby fields to satisfy their
hunger. Overcoming many hardships, they spent 4
nights and finally reached Tocat. The road leading to
the city was overcrowded, some people leaving it and
others just arriving. All of them were half-naked: they
had sold most of their clothes not to die of hunger.
Hovhannes wanted to secretly join these people and
enter Tocat. Fortunately, three of the Greeks offered the
same as they were too emaciated to continue the way.
Those entering the city were mainly ill, which meant
that everybody, including the young men of the group,
would undergo some medical examination and would
certainly be sent to hospital.

At night the young men left their hiding-place and
mingled with the crowd of the sick. Hovhannes was
taken to hospital as he had stomach-ache and indiges-
tion. The doctor, Nshan Effendi, who was from
Charshamba, recognised him, but did not show it. He
prescribed some medicine for him and the young man

recovered within 3 days. Seeing that he was well, the
hospital staft told him to do some work, namely to take
the dead outside, but the doctor did not allow this: a
sick person could only give bread and water to the oth-
ers.

During the morning examination, Nshan Effendi
decided to send Hovhannes to the first hospital. This
doctor was giving treatment to the wounded soldiers of
7 battalions without anybody’s help, all by himself.
The Turks were in need of doctors; that’s why Nshan
Effendi was alive. The following day Hovhannes asked
him if they were going to send him to the military unit,
but the doctor made him understand that he was to
decide it.

Hovhannes was released from hospital in 15 days
and went to the military unit in Amasia to join his
friends. Soon they were mingled with a caravan of
Armenians passing through the city.

When the caravan was passing through a desert, the
young men were able to run away. Wandering here and
there for 18 days, they joined a group of Armenians
going to Sebastia.

skesksk

Unfortunately, my grandfather’s story does not con-
tinue from this point. It remained unfinished due to his
death, and I will try to complete it with the pieces of
fragmentary information that I have heard from his
children.

During his odyssey, Hovhannes had several mirac-
ulous escapes from death: once he was wounded and
fell down, the corpses of Armenians gradually piling
up right over him and thus saving him from certain
death. In another case, he was saved as he pretended to
be an askyar (the Turks did not suspect him as he was
very fluent in Turkish). Hovhannes slept far from the
askyars so that they could not hear the Armenian words
he might say while sleeping. Once Hovhannes and his
friends were on a train that had arrived in Turkey from
India (I cannot say why they had got on that train): one
of the passengers, an Armenian doctor, heard them
talking secretly and hid them in the train together with
100 other Armenians. Hovhannes got off at the railway
station of Alexandrople [nowadays: Gyumri]: he was
in Eastern Armenia, which meant that he had been
saved, but he could not feel any happiness. He was the
only surviving member of his large family of 18 peo-
ple. He accidentally saw his sister’s husband,
Ferdinand Manukian, among the refugees who had
been sheltered in the gymnasium of Alexandrople. So,
the two of them were the only surviving members of
their large family. They decided to stay together and
tell everybody that they were brothers.

In 1918 Hovhannes married Varsenik Hakobian and
formed a family for the second time (the ceremony was



26

VARDZK N 11

performed in Sourb Nshan Church of Alexandrople).
However, soon the Turks attacked Eastern Armenia,
turning Shirak, Lori and Sardarapat into battlefields.
The plunder and massacres committed in Western
Armenia now threatened these lands. Varsenik (she
was from Bozyokhush (now: Musayelian) Village) was
hiding in a cave together with her relatives and the peo-
ple of Ashotsk. As for her husband, he was selflessly
fighting at Sardarapat. Varsenik’s labour pains started
in the cave and she gave birth to a son. However, the
child’s cry might reveal the hiding-place and Varsenik
had to make a fatal decision: to get rid of the newborn
child to save hundreds of lives. The baby was placed
under some bushes far from the cave...

The following day, Hovhannes came (he had ap-
proached the hiding-place through some secret paths)
and took Varsenik to a safer place. They walked amidst
corpses lying here and there, through ponds of blood.

For many years, Varsenik and Hovhannes were not
able to have a child, and the former thought that it was
her punishment for the sin she had committed. But how
could God punish her? She had saved hundreds of peo-
ple, had she not? Later they had 4 children.

In 1919 the Turkish army again threatened to attack
Shirak. Varsenik persuaded Hovhannes to leave the vil-
lage with his friends: the Turkish askyars might recog-
nise him. At that time, Commander Andranik arrived at
Bozyokhush with his fighters and suggested that the
locals join them to escape sufferings and slaughter.
However, the men of the village did not agree and
stayed there, only the women and children following
the Commander. Overcoming the difficult passes of
Ashotsk, they reached Jalaloghli (Stepanavan) and then
moved to Gharakilisa (Vanadzor). In the morning, the
villagers found out that the Commander had left and
decided to return to their village. On their way back,
they encountered some Turkish troops. The aged mem-
bers of the group met the enemies with bread and salt
and the Turkish commander allowed them to continue
their way.

Wandering here and there for half a year,
Hovhannes finally returned home. His friends had left
for Georgia to move to America from there, but he had
not joined them. He had already once lost his family
and did not want to suffer that pain again. Upon return-
ing, Hovhannes found Varsenik seriously ill: an epi-
demic of typhus was raging in the region and she was
among those affected. Fortunately, her young organism
overcame the disease.

In 1926 Hovhannes and Ferdinand left for
Abkhazia for permanent residence. The former’s
uncles Hakob and Harutiun had moved to Sukhumi in
the late 19th century. On the train they told their wives
[apparently, Ferdinand had married again, too] that
they were not brothers: anyway, this would be revealed

Hovhannes Gyulian

when they were among their relatives in Abkhazia.
Only uncle Harutiun was alive. When Varsenik was
pouring water on his hands, he looked up to the sky and
said: “Lord, may Your Glory be eternal. I have lived to
see my brother’s daughter-in-law pouring water onto
my hands.”

For some reasons unknown, Hovhannes and
Ferdinand did not stay in Abkhazia and returned to
Leninakan [another name for Gyumri].

In September 1941 Hovhannes was at the railway
station of Leninakan to send his elder son Mkrtich to
the front. He asked his son to take revenge on the Turks
for everything they had done, and the latter promised
so. However, he was not able to keep his promise and
later, when already rather advanced in age, he often
repented this (he was suffering from amnesia at that
time).
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Hovhannes Gyulian, who took up permanent resi-
dence in another part of his homeland [in Eastern
Armenia], died on 29 January 1972, surrounded with
his children and grandchildren. He died with his heart
still aching over the loss of his birthplace and his dear
ones. His last words were: “Iskuhi, give me something
to eat. I'm tired.”

Iskuhi was his first wife, who had perished during
the deportation...

sk

The following members of the Gyulians’ family fell
victim to the Genocide: Hovhannes Gyulian’s mother
Vardine, his wife Iskuhi and his son Sargis; his brother
Harutiun with his wife Hripsime and their son
Hambardzum; Hovhannes’ brother’s daughters Vardine
and Azniv; Hovhannes’ three sisters: Mariam with her
husband Esteban, her son and daughter; Iskuhi with her
two children, and Almast with her husband and child.
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ROYAL DECREES ENGRAVED IN MREN CATHEDRAL

by Samvel Karapetian

The cathedral of Mren, situated in the city site of
the same name in the region of Kars (under Turkish oc-
cupation since 1921), was built between 639 and 640
by Prince Davit Saharuny. Apart from its highly valu-
able construction inscription, it also abounds in numer-
ous other lapidary records relating to both the Bagratid
Kingdom of Armenia and later periods, particularly the
second half of the 13th century.!

The cathedral used to have seven inscriptions dat-
ing from the Bagratid period (some of them are no lon-
ger in situ due to the collapse of its southern facade):
one of them is traced back to the times of Smbat the
Shahenshah (977 to 990); three were engraved under
Gagik I (990 to 1020); two under Hovhannes-Smbat
(1020 to 1041), and one under Gagik IT (1041 to 1045).

As early as 1917, all these inscriptions (four of them
are engraved and three are written in black paint on the
plaster layer) were prepared for publication thanks to H.
Orbely’s efforts, but they eventually saw the light only
in 1974 (without any photographs or tracings).?

The present article dwells on the aforementioned
three paint-written inscriptions. In 2013 the celebrated
art historian Patrick Tonapetian visited the cathedral
and took some photographs which enabled us to pre-
pare the tracings of these lapidary records.

All the three inscriptions are inwardly engraved on
the western wall (north of the entrance) of the cathe-
dral. These are royal decrees aimed at the settlement of
certain economic problems: one of them was issued by
Smbat the Shahenshah, and the other two by
Hovhannes the Shahenshah.?

1 See Opoein W., Hannucu Mpena [H. Orbely, “The
Inscriptions of Mren”], in: «wjwghnwlwl htwmwgnnni-
pjniGGtp» [Armenological Studies], book 1 (Yerevan, 1974), pp.
33-43; Gupuwtumyw U., «UnpbGp L Gpu hnypwpdwGGappy [S.
Karapetian, “Mren and Its Monuments”], «Jdwpép» [Vardzk],
no. 7 (2012), pp. 31-63.

2 Orbely, “The Inscriptions of Mren,” p. 41.

3 Gagik I’s (990 to 1020) elder son Hovhannes (1020 to 1041) was
also known by the name of Hovhannes-Smbat, but we do not think
that the same king could be mentioned by one name in 2 of the
inscriptions and by another in the third. Based on this, we are in-
clined to attribute the paint-written inscription of Shahenshah Sm-
bat to Gagik I’s father, Smbat II Tiezerakal (Master of the Univer-
se, 977 to 990). This supposition is further substantiated by the lo-
cation of the inscriptions as it is evident that the first of them is the
decree of Shahenshah Smbat, the other two following it beneath
and left of it. This shows the chronological order of the engraving
of these inscriptions.

The 10-line decree of Smbat the Shahenshah is
almost entirely preserved: only the concluding parts of
its last two lines have fallen off together with the plas-
ter. The decree was issued for the settlement of an eco-
nomic dispute Mren had with two major cities of
medieval Armenia, Ani and Bagaran.

Bwlini( w(unnion) wyu ht hpuwdwlp GG Udpw-
uuw [ pwhwlywhh. wqunnbwy B8 qUpbGng qng|fuwph
hwul Jwul ) wpbingu G pd denugl pnpnipbwd,
ap slw nspls wndwl Pugp(w)GE, gh [ ny Ulng p
ybpw UphklGny Juwul nshiuph, bpb | np pnnhdwGw
hpudwlwg fuing, jhung | jud wyp np ny hgl” wup-
muwlpul bnhgh vwiwl wpbwlG L(phunnu)h b
hu dbnugu B W wiblhugG wqqh vbnug wkp
8d (319) [hujpuwybn]ugli Ggnjbwy bLnhgh b
nuuwufnn Gnpw wkp E:

Transl.: In the name of God, this is my decree, the
decree of Smbat the Shahenshah, with which Mren is
exempted from the sheep tribute for the sake of my
longevity and for the atonement of my sins... If anybody
stands against my orders, whether any of my family
members or others, may they atone for Christ’s blood
and for my sins and for the sins of the entire family of
mine. May they be cursed by the 319 Holy Fathers.
May God administer justice against them.

Beneath this decree, King Hovhannes-Smbat’s
edict is engraved in larger letters which are now unfor-
tunately semi-distorted. Only the first eight lines of this
lapidary record are preserved, its concluding part miss-
ing. Anyway, the inscription is still able to convey the
main meaning of the king’s decree:

61 bu' BnjwlGtu p[whwlyw J/h, hwumunnbwy bl
qht hupfwlgl hpudwlpu, np squpk [ np h UpklGng
nsfuwpk nshifs hwlpunny, Gpb np p[Gnph/dfwGw
hwpwGg[G hpwdwGhug] ... pd quponw[lpwd] ... | ...

Transl.: And I, Hovhannes the Shahenshah, corrob-
orate my forefathers’ edicts exempting Mren from pay-
ing the sheep tax. If anybody shows resistance to my
forefathers’ decrees, ... may they ...

The third edict, carved left of these two, is in a
worse condition, only certain fragmentary scraps of its
eight lines being still intelligible. These pieces reveal
that the inscription was engraved to settle certain eco-
nomic problems, like the two previous ones. Its letters
almost share the size of those of the first one.
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[Uju] it hpuwdwlp GG SnjwlGhup | ... [wqu inky
b qUp([GGny] ... [qnsfuwuph hw]ul G sunhG Gfi...
YJuwul] hf wpbingu b yf[wud G hg wqqh d]knug pn-
nmpbwl | b pb jhn hdng GpulGhplng jupfuw/[phtu]
wy np plnnhdfwGwy jhdnfg jwi unwpug bi...:

Transl.: These are my decrees, the decrees issued by
Hovhannes ... I have exempted Mren ... from the sheep
tribute ... for my longevity and for the atonement of the
sins of my family, and if anybody, whether any of my
family members or others, stands against [this decree]
after I depart this world...*
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To summarise, we would like to point out that in
recent years, the cathedral of Mren has suffered con-
siderable damage: in 2006 to 2007, its southern wall
almost entirely collapsed due to the deliberate under-
mining of its foundations. It is only by a happy chance
that the part of the western wall, bearing the aforemen-
tioned inscriptions, is still standing.

4 The part in the 3rd line of the inscription reading «swthG br...»
(not translated into English because of the obscure meaning), may
be the initial part of a toponym; for instance, «qUihGk[t...».
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The decrees of Shahenshah Hovhannes-Smbat (photos by P. Tonapetian, 2013)
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The part of the western facade of Mren Cathedral on which the three paint-written royal inscriptions are preserved (photo by P. Tonapetian, 2013)
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The RAA has published S.
Karapetian’s work Hayots Dzor [in
Armenian], the first book in the 36-
volume series entitled History of
Armenia. The publication of this
volume was made possible thanks to
the generous contribution of the
Armenian Hikers Association, the
Armenian Hiking Society, the

Armenian Cycling Association and
the Hye Riders Motorcycle Club,
Los Angeles, CA, USA.

S. Karapetian’s work entitled
Another Genocide after the Geno-
cide [in Armenian, Russian & En-
glish] was prepared and published
with the support of the RA Minis-
tries of Urban Development and
Culture, Mon-Arch Company and
Hayastan All-Armenian Fund.
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The Historical Monuments of
Arinj Village (in Armenian), by S.
Karapetian, came to add to the num-
ber of the booklets published within
the series Villages and Towns of
Armenia. This series was initiated in
2014 thanks to the financial support
of Vardan Harutiunian, a person con-
cerned with raising and increasing
awareness of Armenian cultural her-
itage. The other booklets (all of them
published in Armenian in 2014) are:
The Historical Monuments of Kotayk
Village; The Historical Monuments
of Norgyugh and Mayakovski Villa-
ges; The Historical Monuments of
Kaputan Village; The Historical
Monuments of Akunk and Katnagh-
byur Villages; The Historical Monu-
ments of Zar and Sevaberd Villages.

The RAA has published Samvel Ayvazian’s book entitled The
Restoration of Dadivank Monastery between 1997 and 2011 (in
Armenian). The publication was financially supported by the RAA USA
and an anonymous donor (in memory of Adrine Martirossian).
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SARGIS DARCHINIAN, AN EXPERT IN THE HERITAGE OF TPGHIS (TIFLIS) ARMENIANS
WE HAVE LOST OUR DEAR FRIEND

Sargis Darchinian, a devoted researcher who spent most of his life vigorously studying and documenting the
heritage of Georgian Armenians, succumbed to a fatal disease in October 2013. He left a unique collection of var-
ious documents and photographs which need to be processed into scientific works—a painstaking task to which
the RAA has committed itself in token of respect of the memory of the outstanding archivist and our dear friend.

Sargis Darchinian in front of the font of Sourb
Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church of Ananur
(photo by S. Karapetian, 16 April 2012)

YOUR EFFORTS AND
CONTRIBUTION WILL
ALWAYS BE REMEMBERED

Sargis Darchinian and the RAA members in the
Pantheon of Khojivank, where he was to find
eternal repose just several months later (photo
7 May 2013)
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